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Consolidated Income Statement 

EUR thousand 

Note 

2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

Revenue [7] 848,967 697,660 

Cost of sales   (684,166) (573,124) 

Gross profit   164,801 124,536 

Other operating income [8] 11,333 5,927 

Net allowances on financial assets   2,275 (3,281) 

Distribution expenses   (48,139) (47,030) 

General and administrative expenses   (49,766) (34,353) 

Other operating expenses [9] (15,333) (20,477) 

Operating profit   65,172 25,322 

Interest expense [10] (41,683)* (33,600)* 

Other financial result [10] (8,736)* 18,511* 

Financial result   (50,420) (15,090) 

Profit (+) / loss (-) before tax   14,752 10,232 

Income taxes [11] 1,365* (11,111)* 

Profit (+) / loss (-) after tax   16,118 (878) 
    

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond (Senior 

Secured Note)”  
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RENK Consolidated Financial Statements 2022 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

EUR thousand Note 2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

Profit (+) / loss (-) after tax   16,118* (878)* 

Items not reclassified to profit or loss       

Remeasurement of defined benefit liability [11] 2,664 14,340 

Deferred taxes [11] (5,030) (3,322) 

    (2,367) 11,017 

Items reclassified to profit or loss in the 

future       

Currency translation differences   6,176 5,486 

    6,176 5,486 

Other comprehensive income for the 

period   3,809 16,504 

Total comprehensive income   19,927 15,626 
    

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond”  
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

Assets 

EUR thousand Note Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Intangible assets [14] 388,955 435,570 

Property, plant and equipment [15] 322,981 332,378 

Other and financial investments [4] 21,924 23,667 

Deferred tax assets [11] 13,718* 1,492 

Other non-current financial assets [4] [19] 1,957* 22,133* 

Other non-current receivables [19] 2,415 3,561 

Non-current assets   751,949 818,800 

Inventories [16] 275,595 250,040 

Trade receivables [7] [17]  144,654 117,497 

Contract assets [4] [18] 83,534 60,068 

Current income tax receivables   5,596 9,588 

Other current financial assets [4] [19] 10,663 10,091 

Other current receivables [19] 12,010 8,098 

Cash and cash equivalents   158,678 97,546 

Current assets   690,730 552,928 

    1,442,680 1,371,728 
    

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond” 
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RENK Consolidated Financial Statements 2022 

Equity and liabilities 

EUR thousand Note Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Subscribed capital   25 25 

Capital reserves   308,594 312,309 

Retained earnings   (7,070)* (23,189)* 

Cumulative other comprehensive income   22,958 19,149 

Equity [20] 324,506 308,294 

Non-current financial liabilities [4] [23] 617,694* 614,117* 

Pension provisions [21] 1,457 6,411 

Deferred tax liabilities [11] 77,854* 87,261* 

Contract liabilities, non-current [24] 72,792 39,398 

Other non-current provisions [22] 11,267 13,536 

Other non-current financial liabilities [4] [25] 265 639 

Other non-current liabilities   48 30 

Non-current liabilities and provisions   781,377 761,392 

Current financial liabilities [4] [23] 17,713* 15,757* 

Income tax liabilities   2,345 599 

Trade payables [4] 66,631 65,816 

Contract liabilities, current [24] 141,270 121,612 

Current income tax payables   7,174 1,256 

Other current provisions [22] 65,196 66,621 

Other current financial liabilities [4] [25] 2,630 2,904 

Other current liabilities [25] 33,837 27,476 

Current liabilities and provisions   336,797 302,042 

    1,442,680 1,371,728 
    

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond”  
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity1) 

EUR thousand 

Subscribed 

capital 

Capital 

reserves 

Retained 

earnings 

Remeasurement of 

defined benefit 

liability 

Currency 

translation Total equity 

As of Jan. 1, 2021 25 221,903 (22,310)* 2,749 (104) 202,263* 

Profit (+) / loss (-) 

after tax – – (878)* – – (878)* 

Cumulative other 

comprehensive 

income – –   11,017 5,486 16,504 

Shareholder 

contributions – 90,406 – – – 90,406 

As of Dec. 31, 

2021 25 312,309 (23,189)* 13,766 5,382 308,294* 

Profit (+) / loss (-) 

after tax – – 16,118* – – 16,118* 

Cumulative other 

comprehensive 

income – –   (2,367) 6,176 3,809 

Other changes   (3,715)       (3,715) 

Shareholder 

contributions –   – – – 0 

As of Dec. 31, 

2022 25 308,594 (7,070)* 11,399 11,558 324,506* 
       

1) Please refer to Note “Equity”. 

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial state-

ments for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to 

the consolidated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment 

of a bond” 
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RENK Consolidated Financial Statements 2022 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

 

EUR thousand Note 2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   97,546 186,881 

Profit (+) / loss (-) before tax   14,752* 10,232* 

Income taxes paid [11]  (10,699) (8,861) 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses on intangible 

assets and property, plant and equipment [13] [14]  96,150 76,294 

Write-downs / reversals other and financial investments   1,743 1,528 

Change in provisions for pension obligations [21]  (4,181) 4,776 

Gains/losses from asset disposals [13] [14]  573 (363) 

Other non-cash expenses and income   (14,916) (1,006) 

Change in inventories [15]  (23,910) 6,991 

Change in receivables and contract assets [16] [17] 

[19]  (45,987) 8,621 

Change in (contract) liabilities [23] [24] 57,821 (31,381) 

Change in other provisions [22] (4,070) 17,775 

Financial result (except for income from dividends) [10] 48,573* 13,469* 

Cash flows from operating activities   115,848 98,075 

Payment to aquire property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets [14] [15] (25,983) (32,806) 

Acquisition of subsidiaries  [13] – (301,509) 

Proceeds from asset disposals   682 2,593 

Cash flows from loans receivable   942 7,441 

Cash flows from restricted cash [19] (10) 3,406 

Income from dividends   1,847 1,621 

Cash flows from investing activities   (22,522) (319,254) 

Equity contributions   – 41,554 

Proceeds from bond  – 203,455 

Repayment of IC loans  – (40,607) 

Change in cash-pool  2,122 275 

Other change in financial liabilities [23] – (213) 

Acquisition of non-controlling interests   (4,525) (51,553) 

Lease payments  [14] [23] (2,067) (2,003) 

Interest payments [10] (29,792) (20,160) 

Cash flows from financing activities   (34,262) 130,748 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   2,068 1,094 

Change in cash and cash equivalents   61,132 (89,335) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   158,678 97,546 

Cash flows from loans receivable   1,814 – 

Restricted cash [19] 7,861 9,944 

Gross liquidity at end of period   168,353 107,490 

Financial liabilities (excluding liabilities from cash pool) [23] (633,010)* (629,600)* 

Net liquidity at end of period   (464,657)* (522,110)* 

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond”  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial 

Statements 

Principles of Financial Reporting 

(1) General principles 

RENK Holding GmbH (as of September 13, 2023: RENK Group AG), domiciled in Augsburg, 

Germany, is registered with Augsburg Local Court under HRB 37339. The company’s reg-

istered office was relocated to Augsburg with an entry dated April 5, 2022, as this is the 

headquarters for the main operating activities. The company operates as a holding in the 

RENK Group. RENK develops, produces and distributes high-quality drive technology. 

Since the current fiscal year, it has been divided into the four divisions Vehicle Mobility 

Solutions, Marine & Industry, Slide Bearings and Test Systems, which were established 

based on the former Special Gear Units, Vehicles Transmissions, Standard Gear Units and 

Slide Bearings businesses. The new structure is described in further detail in the Group 

Management Report. 

The Group of Renk Holding GmbH is referred hereafter as RENK. RENK, together with 

non-consolidated equity investments are referred to as the RENK Group.  

In accordance with section 290 para. 1 and 2 Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Com-

mercial Code), RENK Holding GmbH, which was founded in fiscal year 2020 and is held by 

the financial investor Triton, is obliged to prepare consolidated financial statements due 

to its direct 100% interest in RENK FinCo GmbH, which in turn has a direct 100% interest 

in RENK GmbH. After the acquisition of the shares from Volkswagen-Vermo gensverwal-

tungs-GmbH, RENK GmbH with its subsidiaries has been included in the consolidated fi-

nancial statements since October 2020.  

RENK FinCo GmbH, RENK GmbH and RENK Test System GmbH and RENK Magnet-Motor 

GmbH exercise the exemption provided by section 291 of the HGB and do not prepare 

their own consolidated financial statements or management report. In addition, the enti-

ties applied the exemption provision in accordance with section  264 para. 3 HGB and 

therefore did not publish their annual financial statements or prepare notes or a manage-

ment report. 

These consolidated financial statements of RENK Holding GmbH (smallest group) for the 

fiscal year from January 1 to December 31, 2022 were prepared in line with section 315e 

para. 3 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) in accordance with the International Fi-

nancial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB), as adopted by the European Union as per Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the 

European Parliament and of the Council. The consolidated financial statements were pre-

pared on March 10, 2023 and approved for submission to the shareholders by resolution 

of the management. 
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RENK Consolidated Financial Statements 2022 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in euro, the functional cur-

rency of RENK. Unless stated otherwise, all figures are in thousands of euro (EUR thou-

sand). Minor differences in totals or percentages can occur as a result of the commercial 

rounding of amounts. In the individual tables, amounts that have been rounded to zero 

are shown as “0”. If the figure is actually zero, it is shown as “–”. 

Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond (Sen-

ior Secured Note) 

In the fiscal year 2020, the company issued a bond with a nominal value of EUR 320 mil-

lion with an interest coupon of 5.75% and a term of five years at TISE in Guernsey. The 

bond was increased by an amount of EUR 200 million in the fiscal year 2021 to a total 

nominal value of EUR 520 million, with the interest coupon and the original agreed term 

remaining unchanged. The additional EUR 200 million was paid out at a premium of EUR 

6 million. 

As part of the preparatory activities for the 2023 consolidated financial statements, it was 

determined that the bond contains termination rights, which represent embedded deriva-

tives that must be separated and were not previously recognized. The separate termina-

tion rights must subsequently be recognized at fair value, with the changes in value rec-

ognized in profit or loss in the financial result.  

Furthermore, the increase in the bond in the fiscal year 2021 represents a modification 

within the meaning of IFRS 9. As a result, the premium is to be recognized as part of the 

modification gain, which leads to a reduction in interest expenses in the fiscal year 2021. 

The accrued interest on the bond was reclassified from non-current to current financial 

liabilities and also corrected in 2020 and 2021. 

As a result of the incorrect accounting of the derivatives and the bond in the fiscal years 

2021 and 2020, the effects of this correction on the periods presented are presented in 

the following tables. 

This concerns the consolidated income statement as follows: 
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EUR thousand 2022 as 

reported 

Adjustment 2022 

adjusted 

2021 as 

reported 

Adjustment 2021 adjusted 

Interest expense (43,003) 1,320 (41,683) (40,943) 7,343 (33,600) 

Other financial 

result 

9,823 (18,559) (8,736) 13,060 5,451 18,511 

Financial result  (33,181) (17,239) (50,420) (27,883) 12,793 (15,090) 

Profit before tax 31,991 (17,239) 14,752 (2,561) 12,793 10,232 

Income taxes (4,152) 5,517 1,365 (7,015) (4,096) (11,111) 

Profit after tax 27,840 (11,722) 16,118 (9,576) 8,698 (878) 
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RENK Consolidated Financial Statements 2022 

This concerns the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:  

EUR 

thousand 

2022 as 

reported 

Adjustment 2022 adjusted 2021 as 

reported 

Adjustment 2021 adjusted 

Other non-

current fi-

nancial as-

sets 

548 1,409 1,957 2,165 19,968 22,133 

Non-current 

financial 

liabilities 

627,631 

 

(9,937) 617,694 622,735 (8,618) 614,117 

Deferred 

tax 

liabilities 

78,635 

 

(781) 77,854 82,525 4,736 87,261 

Current 

financial 

liabilities 

3,926 13,787 17,713 1,970 13,787 15,757 

Net assets 331,576 _ 331,576 331,483 _ 331,483 

Retained 

earnings 

(5,411) (1,659) (7,070) (33,252) 10,063 (23,189) 

Total 

Equity 

326,165 (1,659) 324,506 298,231 10,063 308,294 

 

 

In accordance with the corrections presented, some of the amounts shown in Note 3(j), 

4(a), 5, 10, 11, 19, 20, 23 also had to be adjusted.  

 

(2) Consolidation and measurement of equity investments 

(a) Equity investments 

The equity investments of RENK Holding GmbH include subsidiaries and financial invest-

ments. All material domestic and foreign subsidiaries that RENK  Holding GmbH controls 

directly or indirectly are included in the consolidated financial statements. Control exists 

when RENK Holding GmbH directly or indirectly has power over the potential subsidiary 

on the basis of voting or other rights, is exposed to positive and negative variable returns 

and can affect the amount of the variable returns on the basis of voting rights.  
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Interests in non-consolidated affiliated entities and financial investments are recognized 

under other and financial investments. 

(b) Basis of consolidation 

Entities included 

In addition to RENK Holding GmbH, the consolidated financial statements include the fol-

lowing wholly owned subsidiaries: 

• RENK FinCo GmbH, Augsburg, 

• RENK GmbH, Augsburg, 

• RENK Magnet-Motor GmbH, Starnberg (formerly: Magnet-Motor GmbH), 

• RENK Test System GmbH, Augsburg, 

• RENK-MAAG GmbH, Winterthur, Switzerland, 

• RENK France S.A.S., Saint-Ouen-l'Aumo ne, France, 

• RENK Corporation, Duncan (SC), USA, 

• RENK Systems Corporation, Camby (IN), USA, 

• Horstman Holdings Limited, Bath, UK, 

• Horstman Defence Systems Limited, Bath, UK, 

• Horstman Inc., Sterling Heights (MI), USA, 

• Horstman Systems Inc., Woodbridge, Ontario, Canada,  

• RENK America LLC, Muskegon (MI), USA (formerly: Combat Mobility Solutions LLC),  

• RENK Holdings Inc., Muskegon (MI), USA (RENK Holdings Inc. was established in the context 

of the acquisition of RENK America LLC to bundle all US activities). 

Please see the corresponding note for a full overview of shareholdings of the RENK 

Group. 

(c) Financial investments 

Financial investments that are not consolidated on account of immateriality are essen-

tially measured at amortized cost. In addition, other financial investments are measured 

at fair value through OCI. 

Dividends from financial investments are recognized in profit or loss unless they repre-

sent a repayment of the cost. 

 

(d) Currency translation 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated using the relevant exchange rates at the 

time of the transaction. In subsequent periods, monetary assets and liabilities are meas-

ured at the average rate at the end of the reporting period; exchange rate differences are 

recognized in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 

cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the trans-

action. On initial recognition of an asset, expense or income that includes prepayments 

received or made, the exchange rate at which the non-monetary items from prepayments 

were translated on the date of the transaction is used.  



13 
 

 

RENK Consolidated Financial Statements 2022 

The financial statements of entities from countries outside the euro area are translated 

into euro using the functional currency concept. The functional currency is  determined by 

the primary economic environment, it is the respective local currency of the entities con-

solidated. 

The financial statements are translated using the modified closing rate method, according 

to which items in the statement of financial position - except equity - are translated using 

the rate at the end of the reporting period, while income statement items are translated 

using weighted average exchange rates. Equity is translated at historical rates. The result-

ing translation differences are recognized in other comprehensive income until the dis-

posal of the subsidiary and presented as a separate item in equity.  

Overview of key exchange rates 

  Closing rate   Average exchange rate 

  Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

US dollar 1.06660 1.13260 1.05890 1.13040 

Swiss franc 0.98470 1.03310 0.98650 1.04080 

British pound 0.88693 0.84028 0.86950 0.84875 

Chinese yuan 7.35820 7.19470 7.38590 7.19930 

Japanese yen 140.66000 130.38000 142.82000 128.80000 
     

 

(3) Accounting principles 

The presentation in the statement of financial position distinguishes between current and 

non-current assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities are classified as current if they are 

due within one year or within the longer operating cycle. Deferred tax assets and liabili-

ties and assets and pension provisions from defined benefit plans are shown as non-cur-

rent items. The consolidated income statement has been prepared using the cost of sales 

method. 

With the exception of certain items such as financial instruments at fair value and provi-

sions for pensions and similar obligations, the consolidated financial statements are pre-

pared on the basis of amortized cost. 

The consolidated financial statements are based on the financial statements of RENK 

Holding GmbH and its consolidated subsidiaries, which are prepared using the same cor-

poration-wide accounting policies. 

(a) Revenue recognition 

The revenue recognized at RENK is generated through the sale of goods or services re-

lated to drive technology. Production includes both standard and customer-specific solu-

tions. The services sold include maintenance work. Revenue is recognized when the ser-

vices are provided or when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.  
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At contract inception it is determined whether the performance obligation is satisfied 

over time. If the following IFRS 15.35 criterion is met, the performance obligations at 

RENK are recognized over a period of time:  

• The assets created have no alternative use for the entity and the entity has an enforcea-

ble right to payment by the customer for the performance completed to date.  

Revenue from performance obligations fulfilled over time is accounted for using the per-

centage of completion method. RENK calculates the percentage of completion using the 

input method to estimate the costs incurred relative to the total expected costs. The con-

tract costs incurred are the best measure of the satisfaction of performance obligations. If 

expected costs exceed expected revenue, an impairment loss is initially recognized for as-

sets used to fulfill the contract. Otherwise, corresponding provisions are recognized.  

If the requirements for this are not met, the performance obligation is satisfied at a point 

in time in line with agreed trade terms (“Incoterms”). 

Revenue is determined by the transaction price, which is equal to the expected considera-

tion including possible variable remuneration components. If variable consideration has 

been agreed in a contract, revenue is estimated using the most likely amount method. 

Variable consideration is only taken into account in the transaction price if it is highly 

probable that it will arise. For multi-component contracts, the total transaction price is 

allocated to the individual, distinct performance obligations relative to the stand-alone 

selling prices. 

The breakdown in accordance with IFRS 15.114 into various categories that depict how 

the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by eco-

nomic factors are shown under “revenue” in the notes to consolidated income statement.  

The table below shows the timing of performance for the performance obligations from 

contracts with customers.
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RENK Consolidated Financial Statements 2022 

 

Type of revenue Timing of performance 

Revenue from the sale of 

goods 

Depending on the customer contract and the respec-

tive order, the timing of revenue recognition is often 

the same as the time of delivery. 

Revenue from the sale of cus-

tomer-specific products 

Revenue is recognized over time for customer-spe-

cific products for which there is an enforceable right 

to payment for performance completed in the 

amount of costs incurred and a reasonable profit 

margin. This means that revenue is recognized be-

fore the actual time of delivery. Revenue in connec-

tion with customer-specific finished goods revenue 

is recognized at the full price of the finished goods in 

the mandatory acceptance period. For customer-spe-

cific work in progress, revenue in the mandatory ac-

ceptance period is not determined at the full price of 

a finished good but based on the acquisition cost of 

the work in progress. The methodology described 

above is the best way of reflecting the transfer of 

customer-specific products to the customer. 

 

(b) Operating expenses 

Operating expenses are recognized when the service is utilized; expenses for advertising 

and sales promotion and other sales-related expenses are recognized at the time they are 

incurred. The cost of sales consists of costs of the products and merchandise sold. In addi-

tion to the direct material and manufacturing costs, production costs also comprise pro-

duction-related overheads, including depreciation of production equipment.  

Warranty provisions are recognized when the products are sold. Expenses for research 

are immediately recognized in profit or loss. Interest and other borrowing costs are rec-

ognized as expenses in the period in which they arise, with the exception of borrowing 

costs that are capitalized as part of the cost of qualifying assets. A qualifying asset is an 

asset that necessarily takes a period of at least a year to get ready for its intended use or 

sale.  

(c) Intangible assets 

Individually acquired intangible assets are capitalized at acquisition cost and then amor-

tized over the period of their finite useful life. Internally generated intangible assets at 

RENK are capitalized at production cost if the new products or series are technically and 

economically feasible, are scheduled for internal use or for sale, the expenses can be 

measured reliably and sufficient resources to complete the development project are avail-



16 
 

 

able. Development costs that do not meet these criteria and all research costs are recog-

nized immediately in profit or loss. The capitalized development costs are amortized from 

the date of launch over the period of their finite useful life. While a development project 

is still in progress, the amounts capitalized to date are tested for impairment at least an-

nually. No amounts were capitalized in fiscal year 2022 due to currently uncertain mar-

keting opportunities. 

For intangible assets acquired in a business combination, cost is equal to their fair value 

at the acquisition date. 

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 

following periods.  

in years   

Software 3 

Capitalized development costs  5 to 7 

Licenses and similar rights Contractual terms of use 

Customer relationships 15 to 30 

Technologies 10 to 30 

Brand 30 
  

If there are indications that these intangible assets could be impaired, RENK performs an 

impairment test and recognizes an impairment loss where necessary.  

There is no amortization if the useful life is indefinite. Instead, the intangible assets are 

tested for impairment at least once a year.  

Please see the information under “Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses on 

intangible assets and property, plant and equipment”.  

(d) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are capitalized at cost and then depreciated over their ex-

pected useful life. Investment grants are deducted from cost. The cost of internally gener-

ated assets includes directly attributable production costs and pro rata production over-

heads. Where property, plant and equipment consist of material identifiable components 

with different useful lives, these components are recognized and depreciated separately.  

Expenses for maintenance and repairs are recognized in profit or loss unless they must be 

capitalized. 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their ex-

pected useful life. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at the 

end of each reporting period and adjusted if necessary. Depreciation is essentially based 

on the following useful lives: 
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RENK Consolidated Financial Statements 2022 

in years   

Buildings 10 to 50 

Property facilities 5 to 33 

Technical equipment and machinery 5 to 21 

Other equipment, operating and office equipment 3 to 15 
  

If there are indications that property, plant and equipment could be impaired, RENK per-

forms an impairment test and recognizes an impairment loss where necessary. Please see 

the information under “Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses on intangible 

assets and property, plant and equipment”. 

(e) Leases 

Under lessee accounting, RENK’s leases for property, plant and equipment are recognized 

as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position.  

The lease liability is recognized at the amount of the future lease payments discounted at 

the incremental borrowing rate over the entire term of the lease. The incremental bor-

rowing rate is used only if the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily deter-

mined. During the term of the lease, the lease liability is carried forward using the effec-

tive interest method and taking lease payments into account.  

The right-of-use asset is recognized at the amount of the lease liability plus initial direct 

costs. In subsequent periods, the right-of-use asset is to be amortized on a straight-line 

basis over the term of the lease or the economic life, when this is shorter.  

The right-of-use assets shown in the statement of financial position are presented in 

those statement of financial position items in which the assets to which the lease relates 

would have been presented if RENK had owned them. The right-of-use assets are there-

fore presented under non-current assets in property, plant and equipment as of the end of 

the reporting period. 

The practical expedients applied for short-term and low-value leases mean that no right-

of-use asset or lease liability is recognized for these leases. The lease payments for these 

are recognized in the income statement as an expense. Low-value leases are leases where 

the new value of the leased asset does not exceed EUR 5,000. Leases with a total term of 

up to 12 months are classed as short-term. The IFRS 16 accounting requirements are not 

applied to leases for intangible assets. 

Many leases include extension and termination options. All relevant factors and circum-

stances that create an economic incentive to exercise or not exercise the option are taken 

into account when determining the lease terms. Optional periods are taken into account 

when determining the lease term if it is reasonably certain that the option will be  exer-

cised or not exercised. 

To discount the lease liability, an incremental borrowing rate for RENK is used with re-

gard to the respective currency and the contract term. The incremental borrowing rate is 
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used only if the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. In the re-

porting period, the lease liabilities from new leases, contract modifications and changes 

in determining the term of the lease were discounted at a Group interest rate in a range 

between 2.60% and 5.55% (previous year: between 2.60% and 2.75%). If the lease is 

modified or there are changes in the lease payments, the term of the lease or the estimate 

with regard to exercising call options, then the lease liability is remeasured. The right-of-

use assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful 

life and the lease term and are adjusted for any remeasurements of the lease liability.  

(f) Impairment losses on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment  

If there are indications that the carrying amounts of intangible assets and property, plant 

and equipment may be impaired, an impairment test is performed. Intangible assets with 

indefinite useful lives, capitalized development costs not yet available for use and good-

will are tested for impairment at least annually.  

This goodwill was assigned to the cash-generating units to test it for impairment. It is as-

signed where the benefit from the business combination from which the goodwill arose. 

In fiscal year 2022, the goodwill resulting from the acquisition of the RENK Group in 2020 

and from the acquisition of RENK America in 2021, which are allocated to the cash-gener-

ating units, was tested for impairment. Recoverability was confirmed.  

The restructuring of the businesses into the four new divisions Vehicle Mobility Solutions, 

Marine & Industry, Slide Bearings and Test Systems does not require any reallocation of 

goodwill. For more information, see the “Intangible assets” section in the notes to the 

statement of financial position. 

The recoverable amount of the respective asset is calculated to determine the extent of a 

possible impairment loss. The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less costs 

to sell and value in use.  

The value in use is the present value of the expected cash flows determined on the basis 

of current planning by the management. This planning is based on expectations regarding 

future development of the various individual markets. Appropriate assumptions about 

macroeconomic trends (development of currency, interest and commodities prices) and 

historical developments are taken into account. The planning period covers a three-year 

period. Please see the forecast in the Management Report for information on the assump-

tions in the detailed planning period. Plausible assumptions on future developments are 

made for subsequent years. Planning assumptions are adjusted to take account of current 

knowledge.  

The calculation of cash flows is based on expected growth rates for the markets in ques-

tion. The cash flows estimate after the end of the planning period is based on a growth 

rate of 1% p.a. 

A weighted average cost of capital before taxes (WACC) that reflects the market condi-

tions is used as the discount rate. The discount rate is calculated on the basis of the inter-

est rate for risk-free investments, a market risk premium and the borrowing rate and tak-

ing into account the specific peer group information for the beta factors and the debt-to-
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equity ratio. The underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and adjusted 

as necessary.  

If a recoverable amount cannot be determined for an individual asset, the recoverable 

amount of the smallest identifiable cash-generating unit to which the asset in question 

can be assigned is determined. If the recoverable amount of an asset is lower than its car-

rying amount, an impairment loss on the asset is immediately recognized in profit or loss.  

If an asset or cash-generating unit on which an impairment loss was recognized later has 

a higher recoverable amount, an impairment loss is reversed up to no higher than the 

amortized cost that would have resulted without the impairment. The impairment loss is 

reversed in profit or loss and is recognized in other operating income. The reversal of im-

pairment losses on goodwill is not permitted.  

Please see “Financial Risk Management” for information on impairment in connection 

with financial assets. 

(g) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost includes di-

rectly attributable production costs and pro rata fixed and variable production overheads. 

The allocated overheads are mostly determined on the basis of normal capacity utiliza-

tion. Distribution expenses, general and administrative expenses and borrowing costs are 

not capitalized. Raw materials and merchandise are measured at weighted average cost. 

When there are indications of a potential write-off, such as obsolescence, damage during 

storage or price changes, the net realizable value is calculated. If amortized cost exceeds 

net realizable value, then write-off is taken on inventories. If the reason for the write-off 

no longer applies in subsequent periods, the write-off on amortized cost is reversed. 

(h) Contract assets and liabilities 

When either party to a contract has satisfied its performance obligations, the entity must 

recognize a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on whether the entity has sat-

isfied its performance obligation or the customer has paid. Unconditional rights to con-

sideration, which are to be recognized as receivables, must also be taken into account. 

At RENK, contract assets result from the satisfaction over time of performance obligations 

accounted for deploying input-based methods on the basis of costs incurred. Under this 

method, pro rata revenue and the cost of sales are presented in accordance with the pro-

gress achieved by the end of the reporting period. This is calculated based on the transac-

tion price agreed with the customer and the expected contract costs. The percentage of 

completion is calculated as the proportion of the costs incurred by the end of the report-

ing period in the total expected cost of the contract.  

If the result of a performance obligation cannot be reliably determined, revenue is recog-

nized only in the amount of the contract costs incurred. Under the percentage of comple-

tion method, the parts of the contract for which revenue has been received are recognized 
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under contract assets, taking account of prepayments received and prepayments receiva-

ble. 

Expected losses from performance of obligations over a period of time are recognized in 

full. In contract assets, contract losses are recognized on a pro rata basis; provisions are 

formed for the remaining share of the expected contract losses.  

Impairment losses on contract assets are described under “Financial Risk Management”. 

Contract liabilities comprise prepayments received and the contra entry for unconditional 

customer prepayment receivables, i.e. liabilities from prepayments to be received.  

(i) Primary financial instruments 

Financial instruments are agreements that give rise to a financial asset at one entity while 

at the same time giving rise to a financial liability or equity instrument at another.  

RENK’s primary financial assets include trade receivables, financial investments, market-

able securities, other financial assets, cash and cash equivalents. Primary financial liabili-

ties include financial liabilities, trade payables and other financial liabilities.  

Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognized as soon as RENK receives cash and cash equivalents or 

RENK is entitled to receive cash flows. The settlement date is relevant in the case of a reg-

ular way purchase of primary financial assets, i.e. the day on which the financial asset is 

delivered. It is derecognized as soon as the right to receive cash and cash equivalents or 

another financial asset expires due to payment, by decree, statute of limitations, set-off or 

due to another factor or the entitlement is transferred to another person, with all risks 

transferred in full to the acquirer. With regard to the regular way sale of primary financial 

assets, the settlement date is the date of derecognition, as is the case for recognition.  

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as follows based on the business  

model for their management and the structure of cash flows at RENK:  

• measured at amortized cost (trade receivables, other financial assets, cash and cash 

equivalent), 

• measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (financial investments), 

and 

• measured at fair value through profit or loss (derivatives).  

Regarding financial assets (debt instruments) for which the cash flows at specified dates 

are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI criterion), RENK exclusively intends to 

hold these to collect the associated cash flows. These financial assets are thus classified as 

measured at amortized cost. If a financial asset contains a significant financing compo-

nent (customer prepayment receivables), in accordance with IFRS 15.63 the entity does 

not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of this as it is expected at 

contract inception that the period between when the entity transfers a promised good or 
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service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one 

year or less. 

Equity investments that are not consolidated for reasons of materiality and financial in-

struments from rights and obligations under IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Cus-

tomers" are not assigned to a measurement category under IFRS 9 "Financial Instru-

ments", though the impairment provisions of IFRS 9 must be taken into account for the 

latter financial assets on account of an exemption.  

Additions are measured at fair value, including directly attributable transaction costs in 

the case of financial assets not measured at fair value. Fair value on initial measurement 

is generally the transaction price. As trade receivables do not include any significant fi-

nancing components, these are recognized at the transaction price under IFRS 15.  

Financial assets at amortized cost are measured using the effective interest method in 

subsequent periods and must be assessed for impairment. Gains and losses are recog-

nized in profit or loss if the asset is derecognized, modified or becomes impaired.  

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income include financial in-

vestments for which RENK exercises the irrevocable option for measurement at fair value 

through other comprehensive income. In the context of recognition through other com-

prehensive income, the changes in fair value after taking deferred taxes into account and 

all foreign exchange components are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive in-

come. Reclassification to profit or loss when the financial asset is sold is not permitted, 

and instead reclassification is to retained earnings on disposal of the equity investment.  

At the end of each reporting period, indications of impairment of individual financial as-

sets are assessed. Assessing impairment risks is subject to uncertainty and is in some 

cases influenced by judgments made by management. Impairment losses are recognized 

in profit or loss. An impairment loss is recognized at an amount equal to lifetime expected 

credit losses. Further information can be found in section 4.  

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value including directly attributable 

transaction costs once RENK becomes a party to the contract. As all primary financial lia-

bilities at RENK are, with the exception of derivative financial instruments, classified as 

measured at amortized cost, they are subsequently measured using the effective interest 

method. 

The financial liabilities are derecognized when they are extinguished. The financial liabil-

ity is also derecognized if the contractual terms are amended and the cash flows of the 

modified liability differ significantly. If this is the case, a new financial liability is recog-

nized based on the amended terms. If a financial liability is derecognized, any difference 

between the carrying amount of the extinguished liability and the consideration paid is 

recognized in profit or loss. 
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Financial assets and liabilities are presented at their gross value. They are only offset 

when this is legally enforceable for RENK at the current time and it actually intends to off-

set them. 

(j) Derivative financial instruments 

RENK uses derivative financial instruments to hedge foreign currency, interest rate and 

other price risks that can mainly arise from operating activities. RENK mainly uses cur-

rency forwards for this purpose. 

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition and at 

the end of each subsequent reporting period. Derivative financial instruments are recog-

nized on the trade date. Gains and losses from measurement at fair value are recognized 

in profit or loss. 

The fair value for listed derivatives is their positive or negative market value, taking coun-

terparty risk into account as applicable. If no quoted market prices are available, fair val-

ues are calculated based on the conditions at the end of the reporting period, such as in-

terest rates or exchange rates, and using recognized models, such as discounted cash flow 

models or option pricing models. 

In the framework of the central financial management at RENK, the hedging transactions 

of the subsidiaries are performed by RENK GmbH and charged on to the subsidiaries. See 

section 4 for more information on risk management at RENK.  

An embedded derivative in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or a non-financial 

host, is separated from the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if: the eco-

nomic characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument 

with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a deriva-

tive; and the hybrid contract is not measured at FVTPL. Multiple embedded derivatives in 

a single hybrid contract are treated as a single compound embedded derivative unless 

they relate to the different risk exposures, are readily separable and are independent of 

each other.  

The assessment whether to separate an embedded derivative is done only once at initial 

recognition of the hybrid contract. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the 

terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows.  

A separated embedded derivative is measured at fair value with the corresponding 

changes in value recognized in the financial result in the consolidated income statement.  

(k) Income taxes 

Tax liabilities include current income tax liabilities.  

Deferred taxes are presented in separate items of the statement of financial position and 

the income statement. Income tax liabilities for potential tax risks are recognized based 

on the best possible estimate. The likely amount of the tax arrears payment is used as a 

basis for recognized income tax items. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the 

financial reporting and the tax basis, for temporary differences in profit or loss arising on 

consolidation and tax loss carryforwards. Tax effects from distributions of profit are rec-

ognized as deferred taxes only when the appropriate of earnings resolution has been 

passed. Deferred taxes are measured at the prevailing tax rate at the end of the reporting 

period or the future tax rate highly likely to be used.  

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that taxable profit will be available 

for the utilization of the deductible temporary differences or the tax loss carryforwards. 

Deferred tax assets are usually subsequently measured based on future taxable income 

for a planning period of three fiscal years. 

Deferred tax assets are offset against deferred tax liabilities if they relate to the same tax-

ation authority and to the extent that their maturities match.  

Changes in deferred taxes in the statement of financial position lead to deferred tax ex-

pense or income. If the change in deferred taxes results from items recognized directly in 

equity, the change in deferred taxes is also recognized directly in equity.  

(l) Pensions and similar obligations 

Pension obligations from defined benefit plans are calculated using the projected unit 

credit method. The future benefit obligations are measured on the basis of the benefits 

accrued pro rata by the end of the reporting period and discounted to present value. 

Their measurement reflects assumptions about the future development of certain param-

eters that affect the future level of benefits. 

Provisions for pension obligations are reduced by the fair value of the plan assets held to 

cover the pension obligations. If plan assets exceed obligations, the excess is only recog-

nized in other assets if it will result in a refund from the plan or a reduction of future con-

tributions. 

The service cost, which represents the benefits of active employees accumulated in ac-

cordance with the benefit plan in the fiscal year, is presented in functional expenses. Net 

interest income and expenses are calculated by multiplying the net asset or net liability 

by the discount rate and are included in interest expense.  

Remeasurements of the net asset or net liability include actuarial gains and losses arising 

from differences between the actuarial assumptions used and the actual trends, changes 

in actuarial assumptions and the return on plan assets, not including amounts included in 

net interest income or expenses. Remeasurements are recognized net of deferred taxes in 

other comprehensive income in equity. 

Payments for defined contribution plans are recognized in functional expenses.  

(m) Other provisions 

Other provisions are recognized for all identifiable risks and uncertain obligations result-

ing from past events that will probably lead to a future outflow of resources and whose 
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amount can be reliably estimated. They are measured at the best estimate of the expendi-

ture required to settle the obligation. The provision is carried at its net present value 

where the time value of money is material. The discount rate is based on market interest 

rates. 

A reimbursement of third parties anticipated in connection with a provision is recognized 

as a separate asset if its realization is as good as certain. Provisions are regularly re-

viewed and adjusted as further information develops or circumstances change. If a 

change in an estimate results in a reduction of the obligation, the provision is reversed ac-

cordingly and the income is recognized in the corresponding functions or in other operat-

ing income. 

Provisions for warranties are recognized at the time, at which the relevant product is sold 

or the service is performed. Their measurement is primarily based on historical experi-

ence. Individual provisions are also recognized for known damages. RENK holds a special-

purpose real estate fund that is protected against insolvency to serve its partial retire-

ment obligation. The fair value of this fund is offset against the corresponding obligation. 

Provision for outstanding incoming invoices are recognized for services performed but 

not yet invoiced. Provisions for anticipated losses from onerous contracts are recognized 

when the expected benefit resulting from the contract is less than the unavoidable costs 

to fulfill the contract. 

(n) Contingent liabilities 

If the criteria for recognition of a provision are not fulifilled, but the outflow of financial 

resources is not remote, then these obligations are disclosed in the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements. Contingent liabilities are recognized if the obligations have 

become more specific, i.e. the outflow of resources has become probable and their 

amount can be reliably estimated. 

(o) Business Combinations 

The acquisition method was used to account for the business combinations. The consider-

ation transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises:  

• the fair values of the assets transferred, 

• the liabilities incurred by the former owner of the operation acquired and  

• the equity interests issued by the Group. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as part of 

the business combination are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Costs 

related to acquisitions are recognized as an expense.  

The excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the identifiable net asset 

acquired is recognized as goodwill.  
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(p) Material estimates and judgments 

When preparing consolidated financial statements, to a certain extent assumptions and 

estimates are made that affect the amount and reporting of the recognized assets and lia-

bilities, income and expenses and information on contingent assets and liabilities in the 

reporting period. The estimates were made on the basis of past experience and other rel-

evant factors, including the assumption of going concern. All estimates and assumptions 

are made to the best of knowledge and belief to provide a true and fair view of the net  as-

sets, financial position and results of operations of the Group. Any uncertainty is reflected 

in valuations, although future events can still differ from these estimates and have a mate-

rial effect on the net assets, financial position and results of operations of RENK Group. 

Estimates and judgments are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  

The assumptions made regarding the following matters as of the end of the reporting pe-

riod are of particular significance: 

The recoverability of goodwill is tested on the basis of management assumptions using 

the discounted cash flow method. The calculation of the discount rate using capital mar-

ket parameters and the determination of future cash flows are particularly important 

here. 

Estimates of the useful life of depreciable assets are based on past experience. If, in the 

context of the review of useful life, a change is made in estimates, the remaining useful 

life is adjusted and any impairment loss is recognized.  

Recognizing the leases in the form of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability requires es-

timates on the lease term of the relevant lease components. It must be assessed whether 

it is reasonably certain that the contractually agreed extension, termination and call op-

tions will be exercised. The estimate for the initial recognition of the lease components 

determines the amount of the lease liability and thus the right-of-use asset. Changes to 

the estimate in subsequent periods result in a change to the residual values of statement 

of financial position items related to leases.  

Determining impairment of financial assets requires estimates of the level and probability 

of occurrence of future events. As far as possible, estimates are derived from past experi-

ence. 

Pensions and similar obligations are measured using actuarial methods. These are mainly 

based on assumptions relating to discount rates, salary and pension trends and mortality. 

These actuarial assumptions can differ significantly from actual developments due to 

changes in market and economic conditions and therefore lead to a substantial change in 

pensions and similar obligations. The underlying assumptions are presented in the "Pen-

sions and similar obligations" section. 

Depending on the matter at hand, the measurement of other provisions and similar obli-

gations is complex at times and entails estimates to a considerable extent. The assump-

tions made by management with respect to the timing and amount of utilization are 

based, among other things, on historical data, available technical data, estimates of cost 

trends and potential warranty claims, discount rates and possible recoverable amounts. 
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Litigation and other legal proceedings simultaneously give rise to complex legal issues 

and are subject to many difficulties and uncertainties. A provision is recognized for  this if 

it is likely that, in connection with these proceedings, a liability has been incurred that 

will probably lead to an outflow of resources and its amount can be reliably estimated. 

Assessing whether a present obligation as of the end of the reporting period is as a result 

of a past event, whether a future outflow is likely and whether the obligation can be esti-

mated reliably requires considerable judgment and significant estimates by management. 

Future events and developments as well as changes in estimates and assumptions can 

lead to an amended assessment at a future date. Additional expenses that can have a ma-

terial effect on the net assets, financial position and results of operations of RENK thus 

cannot be completely ruled out. Changes in contractual or actual circumstances are moni-

tored and assessed as regards the potential impact on the amount and reporting of the 

recognized assets and liabilities, income and expenses and information on contingent as-

sets and liabilities in the reporting period. Developments in these general conditions that 

deviate from assumptions and are beyond management control can cause amounts to dif-

fer from the original estimates.  

Individual performance obligations are accounted for over time using the percentage of 

completion method. In these cases, revenue is recognized based on progress of comple-

tion. By using this method, it is important to have a reliable estimation in the progress of 

completion. Depending on which method is used to determine the percentage of comple-

tion, significant estimates include contract revenue, total contract costs, the remaining 

costs to completion, contract risks and other assessments. The management of the oper-

ating units is continuously reviewing the estimates for such performance obligations and 

adjusts them as necessary. 

Transaction price is the amount of consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled 

in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer. Estimates are nec-

essary to determine the transaction price, especially when variable consideration is in-

cluded. The variability relates to the amount of the claim. The single most likely amount 

in a range of possible contractual consideration amounts is selected as the most likely 

amount. In addition, some or all of the variable consideration component is only included 

in the transaction price to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal 

of the revenue recognized will not occur. This assessment of probabilities and the re-

striction of variable consideration is based on management estimates.  

As the Group operates in several countries, it is subject to different tax laws. The expected 

current income taxes and the deferred tax assets and liabilities must be calculated for 

each taxable entity. This requires, among other things, assumptions about the interpreta-

tion of complex tax regulations and the ability to generate sufficient taxable income 

within the respective tax type and jurisdiction. If these assumptions differ from the actual 

outcome of such tax uncertainties, this can affect tax expenses and deferred taxes. The 

best estimate of the expected tax payment is used for recognized uncertain income tax 

positions. 

In relation to the Russian war of aggression on Ukraine and climate change, the manage-

ment of the RENK Holding GmbH has analyzed the resulting risks and effects on account-

ing in fiscal year 2022. In this context, the focus was on the recoverability of goodwill, 
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other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, deferred tax assets, invento-

ries and contract assets, as well as the value of receivables. In addition, opportunities and 

risks are continuously monitored against the background of the issues of "changing era" 

and "climate change" and taken into account with regard to their impact on forward-look-

ing assumptions and estimates in the measurement of assets and liabilities. In the fiscal 

year, there were no material effects on the assets and liabilities or the results of opera-

tions of RENK Group. 

(4) Risk management and financial instruments 

(a) Financial risk management 

Basic details on financial risk management can be found in the Group Management Re-

port in the “Risk and Opportunity Report” section under “Finances”.  

RENK GmbH’s Group Treasury is responsible for operating financial risk management. 

The parent company’s management is regularly informed about the risks of RENK Group.  

Credit risk 

Credit risks include direct counterparty risk and the risk of a deterioration in credit qual-

ity. RENK recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses. RENK has three kinds of 

financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model:  

• Trade receivables, 

• contract assets and 

• debt instruments at amortized cost. 

Cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements set out in 

IFRS 9. As in the previous year, however, the impairment loss identified was immaterial.  

The maximum credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial and contract as-

sets presented in the statement of financial position.  

Further information on credit risks generally can be found in the Group Management Re-

port in the “Risk and Opportunity Report” section. 

Trade receivables and contract assets 

Loss allowances on trade receivables and contract assets are recognized in accordance 

with the simplified approach of IFRS 9. Under this method, the expected credit losses over 

the total remaining term of trade receivables and contract assets are calculated on the ba-

sis of a provision matrix. Rates are graded depending on the number of days that a trade 

receivable or contract asset is past due (risk classes). These rates are based on historical 

loss rates and forward-looking factors. To account for forward-looking information, his-

torical loss rates were adjusted using scaling factors. RENK identified gross domestic 

product (GDP) in the customer regions in which it sells products and services as the  most 

relevant factor affecting customers’ ability to settle receivables. The historical loss rates 

are adjusted on a weighted basis on the basis of expected changes in this factor.  
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Contract assets relate to work in progress that has not yet been invoiced and essentially 

have the same risk characteristics as trade receivables for the same types of contracts. 

RENK thus concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables not past due are a 

reasonable approximation of loss rates for contract assets.  

An impairment is recognized on an individual basis if one or more events that have a det-

rimental impact on the debtor’s credit rating have occurred. These events include de-

faults, pending insolvency or concessions granted to the debtor on account of payment 

difficulties. 

Trade receivables and contract assets are directly derecognized if there is no longer a suf-

ficient expectation of recovery. For example, this is the case if the debtor is found to be in-

solvent. 

The following table shows expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets 

as of December 31, 2022: 

2022 

in EUR thousand 

Carrying amount 

before impairment 

Default-weighted 

average loss rate Impairment 

Receivables not due 111,470 0.07% 78 

Trade receivables past due       

of which 1–30 days 10,496 1.75% 184 

of which 31–90 days 7,767 3.14% 244 

of which more than 90 days 6,449 4.83% 311 

Contract assets 83,543 0.07% 58 

Total 219,725   876 
    

 

The following table shows expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets 

as of December 31, 2021: 

2021 

in EUR thousand 

Carrying amount 

before impairment 

Default-weighted 

average loss rate Impairment 

Receivables not due 86,798 0.17% 148 

Trade receivables past due       

of which 1–30 days 12,451 3.80% 473 

of which 31–90 days 4,893 6.75% 330 

of which more than 90 days 11,215 10.19% 1,143 

Contract assets 60,165 0.17% 102 

Total 175,522   2,196 
    

 

The following table reconciles impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets 

as of January 1 to impairment losses as of December 31, 2022: 
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EUR thousand Contract assets Trade receivables 

  2022 2021 2022 2021 

Impairment losses as of Jan. 1 102 1 2,094 709 

Expenses (+) / income (–) from the 

remeasurement of impairment losses 

(addition/reversal) (44) 101 (1,277) 1,385 

Impairment loss as of Dec. 31 58 102 817 2,094 
     

 

Any collateral for trade receivables or contract assets did not have a material impact on 

the amount of the impairment losses. 

Debt instruments at amortized cost 

Debt instruments measured at amortized cost include loans to related parties, advances 

to employees and other receivables. 

Impairment losses for expected credit losses for these financial assets are determined on 

the basis of the general approach in IFRS 9. RENK uses credit ratings for contractual part-

ners that were determined for RENK by external parties (S&P). The credit ratings are re-

viewed each year. All debt instruments measured at amortized cost are considered “low 

risk”. The impairment recognized in the period was thus limited to the 12-month ex-

pected credit losses. RENK assumes a significant increase in the default risk if the credit 

risk deteriorates by two rating grades within one fiscal year. In this case, the lifetime ex-

pected credit losses are recognized.  

The approaches for individual impairment and for derecognizing other financial assets 

are comparable to the approaches for trade receivables and contract assets.  

The calculation did not result in any material impairment losses.  

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk describes the risk that RENK may be unable to adequately meet its payment 

obligations or can raise liquidity only at a higher price.  

Solvency and the provision of liquidity in RENK are regularly monitored on the basis of 

rolling liquidity planning of the RENK entities. Financing requirements are covered by 

both operating cash flow and external financing.  

Cash for the operating units is essentially managed centrally as part of cash pooling. Cash 

of the RENK entities are combined on a daily basis. Thus, liquidity surpluses and require-

ments can be managed as necessary. For external financing, the opportunities on the fi-

nancial markets are tracked continuously to ensure financial flexibility and to limit refi-

nancing risks.  
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In the context of a syndicated loan agreement, there are cash credit lines with banks of 

EUR 50,000 thousand for the entities of RENK Group at normal market conditions with a 

term to January 13, 2025 and an extension option. Deutsche Bank acts as the lead agent 

for the syndicated loan. The basic interest rate is determined depending on the debt-to-

equity ratio. The credit lines had not been utilized at the end of the reporting period.  

In the context of a syndicated loan agreement, RENK also has a guarantee credit line at 

normal market conditions with a term to January 13, 2025 and an extension option. The 

amount of the syndicated guarantee credit lines was increased to EUR 245,000 thousand 

in 2022 (previous year: EUR 175,000 thousand) and utilized in the amount of 

EUR 154,464 thousand (previous year: EUR 119,642 thousand). Outside the syndicated 

loan agreement, there are additional guarantee credit lines on a bilateral basis of 

EUR 28,690 thousand (previous year: EUR 22,771 thousand), of which EUR 12,061 thou-

sand (previous year: EUR 18,871 thousand) had been utilized on the reporting date. Cash 

collateral of EUR 7,845 thousand (previous year: EUR 7,848 thousand) was provided for 

the bilateral guarantee credit lines as of the reporting date. 

To finance the acquisition of RENK America in the previous year, the existing bond from 

2020 from the acquisition of the RENK Group was increased by EUR  200 million in 2021. 

No changes were made to the term of five years or the coupon of 5.75% p.a. A modifica-

tion test resulted in a non-substantial modification. The bond increase was recognized 

considering a present value adjustment of EUR 5,995 thousand in 2021 (which is mainly 

explained by the premium of EUR 6,000 thousand).  Additionally, embedded derivatives 

resulting from the additional tranche were bifurcated with an initial fair value of EUR 

6,132 thousand. Further transaction costs of EUR 2,545 thousand were deducted from the 

loan proceeds in fiscal year 2021. This was done using the effective interest method.  

Cash and cash equivalents are essentially used to finance working capital and short-term 

obligations. 

There were no significant risk concentration in the past fiscal year. 

The following table shows how the cash flows of liabilities and derivative financial instru-

ments affect RENK's liquidity situation:  
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Maturities1) in EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

  2023 2024 to 

2027 

> 2027 2022 2023 to 

2026 

> 2026 

Cash outflows from primary 

financial liabilities 99,073 675,356 242 98,957 701,155 245 

of which from bonds2) 29,900 579,800 – 29,900 609,700 – 

of which from loan liabilities – 91,395 – – 86,154 – 

of which trade payables 66,631 – – 65,816 – – 

of which other financial 

liabilities 1,013 28 – 1,546 7 – 

of which from lease liabilities 1,528 4,133 242 1,695 5,294 245 

Cash outflows from derivative 

financial instrument with 

negative market value and 

gross fulfillment3) (24,860) (3,971) – (26,089) (17,370) (211) 

Associated cash inflows 22,860 3,571 – 24,576 16,488 173 
       

1) The procedure for calculating the amounts was as follows: 

– If the maturity date is not fixed, the liability is assigned to the earliest maturity date. 

– Interest payments for floating rate interest are taken into account in line with the conditions as of the end of 

the reporting period. 

– It is assumed that the cash outflows will not occur earlier than shown. 

2) This includes both tranches of EUR 320,000 thousand and EUR 200,000 thousand within the bond. 

3) In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 7, only undiscounted cash flows of the contractual interest and 

principal payments are shown. 

Foreign currency risk – derivatives 

RENK operates internationally and is thus exposed to foreign currency risks. These arise 

when recognized assets and liabilities and future transactions are denominated in a cur-

rency other than the parent company’s functional currency.  

The majority of operating activities are conducted in the functional currency. Currency 

risks of the remaining transactions are quantified by the Group entities on an ongoing ba-

sis. Taking account of predetermined risk limits by Group Treasury, this remaining risk is 

hedged decentrally at banks using currency forwards. Hedging is carried out with due re-

gard for banks’ risk management requirements and is subject to stringent monitoring, 

which is guaranteed in particular by a strict separation of functions on the basis of the 

dual control principle. The hedge accounting requirements in accordance with IFRS 9 are 

not met for this economic hedging (lack of documentation).  

At RENK, all firm, long-term customer contracts in foreign currency are hedged. Curren-

cies with a high correlation to the euro, if at all relevant, are only hedged in individual 

cases. In addition, there is hedging for planned revenue in foreign currency from series 

production business within defined hedging ranges and, occasionally, for customer pro-

jects whose materialization is highly probable. There is no hedging with regard to pur-

chasing. Transactions are generally conducted in the respective functional currency on 

the spot market. 



32 
 

 

As of the end of the reporting period, RENK's foreign exchange exposure is primarily from 

transactions in USD, CHF, CNY and GBP. Thanks to the currency forwards in place for 

these currencies, RENK was not exposed to any significant risks.  

In a sensitivity analysis, the derivative financial instruments in place at the end of the re-

porting period were measured in a hypothetical scenario. The effects of a 10% apprecia-

tion/depreciation of a currency per currency pair as of December 31, 2022 and December 

31, 2021 are as follows: 

EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 

  Net profit/loss for the period 

Currency pair +10% (10%) 

EUR/AED (1) 1 

EUR/CAD 4 (4) 

EUR/CHF (634) 634 

EUR/CNY (179) 66 

EUR/GBP (613) 613 

EUR/JPY (65) 49 

EUR/NOK (13) 13 

EUR/PLN (5) 5 

EUR/USD (2,799) 2,159 

EUR/SEK 0 0 

CAD/USD 2 (2) 

CHF/EUR 102 (102) 

CHF/GBP 1 (1) 

CHF/USD (335) 335 

EUR/SEK 0 0 

GBP/USD 33 (33) 

EUR/USD (non-current receivables) (21,175) 21,175 

EUR/CNY (non-current receivables) (1,240) 1,240 

EUR/GBP (non-current receivables) (212) 212 
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EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2021 

  Net profit/loss for the period 

Currency pair +10% (10%) 

EUR/AED (1) 1 

EUR/CAD (3) 3 

EUR/USD (21,811) 21,129 

EUR/CHF (56) 56 

EUR/CNY (360) 251 

EUR/GBP (1,056) 1,056 

EUR/JPY (25) (3) 

EUR/NOK (15) 15 

CHF/USD (37) 37 

CHF/CNY 14 (14) 

CHF/GBP 1 (1) 

GBP/USD (244) 244 

GBP/CAD (19) 19 
   

 

Interest Rate Risk 

For all of RENK’s financial liabilities, fixed interest rates were agreed. Further, RENK had 

no significant investments that are exposed to a variable interest rate. However, the fair 

value of the prepayment options embedded into the bond is affected by changes of the 

market interest rate. As this embedded derivative is measured at fair value through profit 

or loss, the other financial result of RENK would be affected by interest rate changes. A 

hypothetical increase (decrease) of the market interest rate by 100 basis points would 

have an effect on other financial result in the amount of EUR -2,897 thousand (EUR 5,130 

thousand).  In 2021, a hypothetical increase (decrease) of the market interest rate by 100 

basis points would have an effect on other financial result in the amount of EUR - 5 thou-

sand (EUR 423 thousand).   

(b) Financial instruments: Classification and fair value 

Financial assets and liabilities recognized at fair value or for which a fair value is dis-

closed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements are to be classified in the fair 

value hierarchy described below. They are allocated to levels of the fair value hierarchy on 

the basis of inputs used for the measurement:  

Level 1: 

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

Level 2:  

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for an asset or 

liability either directly (as a price) or indirectly (derived from prices).  The fair values of 

level 2 financial instruments are calculated based on the conditions at the end of the re-

porting period, such as interest rates or exchange rates, and using recognized models, 

such as the discounted cash flow models or option pricing model. 
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Level 3:  

Input data used for the measurement of the asset or liability not based on observable 

market data (unobservable inputs). 

The fair values were calculated based on the market conditions at the end of the reporting 

period and the measurement methods described. They are the prices at which one party 

would assume the rights or obligations from these financial instruments from an inde-

pendent third party. 

The following table shows the reconciliation of statement of financial position items to 

the classes of financial instruments as of December 31, 2022, broken down by carrying 

amounts and fair values of financial instruments, and the allocation of statement of finan-

cial position items to the measurement categories:  

EUR thousand At fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income 

At fair value 

through profit 

or loss At amortized cost 

Not assigned 

to an IFRS 9 

measurement 

category 

Statement of 

financial position 

item as of 

December 31, 2022 

  Carrying 

amount 

Carrying 

amount 

Carrying 

amount 

Fair value Carrying 

amount 

  

Non-current assets             

Other and financial investments 2,975        18,949 21,924 

Other non-current financial 

assets   1,452* 506 289   1,957* 

of which embedded derivatives  1,409*    1,409* 

of which miscellaneous non-

current financial assets  43 506 289  548 

Current assets             

Trade receivables     144,654 144,654   144,654 

Contract assets         83,534 83,534 

Other current financial assets   175 10,489 10,489   10,663 

Cash and cash equivalents     158,678 158,678   158,678 

Total assets 2,975 1,627 314,327 314,110 102,483 421,411 

              

Non-current liabilities             

Non-current financial liabilities     613,319* 571,618* 4,374 617,694* 

of which bonds     521,925* 483,735*1)   521,925* 

of which loan liabilities     91,395 87,883   91,395 

of which lease liabilities         4,374 4,374 

Other non-current financial 

liabilities   237 28 28   265 

Current liabilities             

Current financial liabilities     16,185* 16,185* 1,528 17,713* 

Trade payables     66,631 66,631   66,631 

Other current financial liabilities   1,678 952 952   2,630 

Total equity and liabilities – 1,915 697,115 655,414 5,903 704,933 
       

1) Fair Value is based on listing price (clean price) without accrued interest. 
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*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” sect ion of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond”  

The following table shows the reconciliation of statement of financial position items to 

the classes of financial instruments as of December 31, 2021, broken down by carrying 

amounts and fair values of financial instruments, and the allocation of statement of finan-

cial position items to the measurement categories:  

 

EUR thousand At fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income 

At fair value 

through profit 

or loss At amortized cost 

Not assigned 

to an IFRS 9 

measurement 

category 

Statement of 

financial position 

item as of 

December 31, 2021 

 Carrying 

amount 

Carrying 

amount 

Carrying 

amount 

Fair value Carrying 

amount 

  

Non-current assets             

Other and financial investments 2,975  – – – 20,692 23,667 

Other non-current financial 

assets – 19,968* 2,165 2,165 – 22,133* 

of which embedded derivatives – 19,968* – – – 19,968* 

of which miscellaneous non-

current financial assets – – 2,165 2,165 – 2,165 

Current assets             

Trade receivables – – 117,497 117,497 – 117,497 

Contract assets – – – – 60,068 60,068 

Other current financial assets – 8 10,083 10,083 – 10,091 

Cash and cash equivalents – – 97,546 97,546 – 97,546 

Total assets 2,975 19,976 227,291 227,291 80,760 331,002 

              

Non-current liabilities             

Non-current financial liabilities – – 608,744* 646,590* 5,373 614,117* 

of which bonds – – 522,590* 559,910*1) – 522,590*  

of which loan liabilities – – 86,154 86,680 – 86,154  

of which lease liabilities – – – – 5,373 5,373 

Other non-current financial 

liabilities – 632 7 7 – 639 

Current liabilities             

Current financial liabilities – – 14,062* 14,062* 1,695 15,757* 

Trade payables – – 65,816 65,816 – 65,816 

Other current financial liabilities – 1,370 1,534 1,534 – 2,904 

Total equity and liabilities – 2,002 690,163 728,009 7,068 699,233 
       

1) Fair Value is based on listing price (clean price) without accrued interest. 

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” sect ion of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond”  
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All other current financial assets and other current and non-current financial liabilities 

measured at fair value through profit or loss are currency derivatives (current forwards). 

To measure fair value, future cash flows are calculated by discounting the forward cash 

flows on the basis of the FX spot and swap rates (calculation using the interest difference 

method). Accordingly, they are allocated to level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  

In the case of current financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost, the car-

rying amounts as of the end of the reporting period approximately match their fair value 

due to the maturities. 

Other non-current financial assets measured at amortized cost include loans to affiliated 

entities and cash collateral. The loans are allocated to level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 

Cash collateral is assigned to level 2. 

The bond is listed on the TISE in Guernsey. The fair value of the separated embedded de-

rivatives is deducted from this listed price. Therefore, the fair value of the bond is allo-

cated to level 2 of the valuation hierarchy. Additionally, the compound embedded deriva-

tive is classified as level 3 of fair value hierarchy. The fair value is calculated using a trino-

mial tree approach based on the Hull White 1 Factor Model. 

The model uses the following input variables which are observable in the market: The 

market price of the bond, the market interest rate, the market implied volatility of inter-

est rate swaptions and credit derivatives (CDS options); as well as the following unob-

servable input variables: the estimated probability of change of control. 

The volatility of the underlying Hull White process is calibrated by the weighted average 

of volatility of interest rate swaptions and credit derivatives, the level of the required 

market interest rate is calibrated to the bond price. The Hull White Process models the 

evolution of the required interest rate over time and the exercise of the options is checked 

in the trinomial tree. The model uses a stochastic process to evolve the market yield curve 

of RENK. The volatility of the process is calibrated to the volatilities of the CDS options 

and swaptions (weighted average). The credit spread over the risk-free rate is calibrated 

to match the bond price in the model to the market price of the bond. At each time step in 

the trinomial tree, the potential development of the market required interest rate is mod-

eled. For each node based on the point in time and development of the interest rate in the 

model, it is checked whether an exercise of the option or a continuation of the option is 

beneficial. The corresponding value of the option is backpropagated through the tree un-

til the valuation date. 
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EUR thousand Dec 31, 2022 Fair Value Embedded 

Derivative 

Effect on financial 

result 

Shift in probability of 

change of control 

+1 percentage point 926 (484) 

-1 percentage point 1,893 484 

Shift in credit spread +10% 618  (791) 

-10% 2,261 851 

Shift in volatility +10% 2,012 603 

-10% 859 (551) 

 

EUR thousand Dec 31, 2021 Fair Value Embedded 

Derivative 

Effect on financial 

result 

Shift in probability of 

change of control 

+1 percentage point 19,936 (33) 

-1 percentage point 20,001 33 

Shift in credit spread +10% 17,801 (2,167) 

-10% 22,365 2,396 

Shift in volatility +10% 20,902 933 

-10% 19,044 (924) 

 

In the calculation of the sensitivities shown above, the other parameters remained con-

stant for the calculation. A market change influencing one input may be correlated to 

other inputs as well, e.g. an increase of the credit spread may correlate to an increase of 

the volatility. Those effects may increase the changes or offset each other, depending on 

the respective movements. The model does take the implicit assumption of the correla-

tion being constant over time. 

The movements in level 3 fair values are as follows:  
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EUR thousand Embedded 

derivative 

January 1, 2021 (recognized in other non-current financial assets) 8,386 

Issuance additonal tranche  6,132 

Changes from fair value measurement (recognized in other financial 

result) 5,451 

December 31. 2021 (recognized in other non-current financial assets) 19,968 

Issuance additonal tranche  0 

Changes from fair value measurement (recognized in other financial 

result) (18,559) 

December 31. 2022 (recognized in other non-current financial assets) 1,409 

 

The fair value of loan liabilities is measured based on the relationship between the inter-

est rate in question and the performance of the bond from the acquisition of the RENK 

Group and RENK America. It is thus allocated to level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  

There were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the fiscal year.  

(c) Financial instruments: Expenses and income 

The net gains and losses from financial instruments are shown in the table below: 

EUR thousand 2022 2021 

Financial assets at amortized cost 5,009 (1,229) 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost (32,176)* (30,427)* 

Assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (22,262)* 7,495* 

Net gain (+)/net loss (–) (49,429)* (24,161)* 
   

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond” 

Net gains and losses from financial assets measured at amortized cost essentially contain 

changes in valuation allowances of EUR 2,299 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,160 thou-

sand) and currency translation in the amount of EUR  970 thousand (previous year: 

EUR (1,355) thousand). 

Net gains or losses from financial liabilities at cost mainly result from interest expense of 

EUR (38,273) thousand (previous year: EUR (24,906) thousand) and gains from currency 

translation of EUR 12,232 thousand (previous year: EUR 9,622 thousand). 

The net gains or losses from financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through 

profit or loss mainly result from fair value changes from the measurement of the com-

pound embedded derivative. 

The interest income and expenses generated in connection with financial assets and fi-

nancial liabilities are as follows: 
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EUR thousand 2022 2021 

Interest expense 41,358* 33,313* 

Interest income 113 423 
   

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond” 

(d) Financial instruments: Offsetting 

The following table contains information on possible offsetting effects on the consoli-

dated statement of financial position and the financial impact of offsetting in the case of 

instruments which are subject to a legally enforceable master offsetting agreement or 

similar agreement. 

The "Financial instruments" column shows the amounts that are the subject of a master 

offsetting agreement, but that cannot be offset because the conditions have not been met. 

Offsetting can only occur given certain future events, such as the insolvency of one of the 

parties. The columns "Collateral received" and "Collateral provided" show the amounts of 

cash collateral or collateral in the form of financial instruments received/pledged in rela-

tion to the total amount of assets and liabilities.  

EUR thousand Carrying 

amount in 

statement of 

financial 

position 

Financial 

Instruments  Collateral Net amount 

Dec. 31, 2022         

Assets from derivative financial 

instruments 217 (174) – 43 

Liabilities from derivative 

financial instruments 1,915 (174) – 1,741 

Dec. 31, 2021         

Assets from derivative financial 

instruments 8 (8) – 0 

Liabilities from derivative 

financial instruments 2,002 (8) – 1,993 
     

 

(5) Statement of cash flows 

In the statement of cash flows, cash flows are divided into cash flows from operating ac-

tivities, cash flows from investing activities and cash flows from financing activities. The 

effects of changes in the scope of consolidation and exchange rates are eliminated in the 

respective positions. The effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents is 

presented separately.  
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Cash flows from operating activities are calculated using the indirect method. Non-cash 

operating expenses and gains/losses from asset disposals are therefore eliminated in 

cash flows from operating activities. 

Besides additions to property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and the company 

acquisition, cash flows from investing activities also include cash flows from loans receiv-

able and restricted cash. Proceeds from these items are offset against each other.  

Cash flows from financing activities consist of the following cash transactions: equity con-

tributions, lease payments, borrowing and repayment of financial liabilities, and interest 

payments. 

Cash and cash equivalents shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows correspond 

to the "Cash and cash equivalents" item in the consolidated statement of financial posi-

tion and to cash in hand and bank balances.  

(6) New and revised accounting pronouncements and methods 

(a) Impact of new and revised IFRSs 

RENK has implemented all accounting standards endorsed by the EU and effective for fi-

nancial periods from January 1, 2022. 

(b) Other accounting standards effective for the first time 

The following amendments and accounting standards effective for the first time in fiscal 

year 2022 have no significant effect on the presentation of the net assets, financial posi-

tion and results of operations in the RENK consolidated financial statements: 
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Standard/Interpretation Mandatory 

application 

Explanation 

IFRS 3  Amendments to IFRS 

3: Reference to the 

conceptual framework 

Jan. 1, 2022 Minor amendments were made to IFRS 3 to update the 

reference to the revised conceptual framework and add 

a requirement in IFRS 3 that an acquirer must apply the 

regulations of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 instead of the 

conceptual framework when identifying assumed 

obligations that are covered by the scope of IAS 37 or 

IFRIC 21. Without this new regulation, in the case of a 

business combination an entity would have recognized 

some liabilities where recognition is not permitted under 

IAS 37/IFRIC 21 and that would therefore have had to 

be derecognized through profit or loss immediately after 

acquisition. IFRS 3 was also expanded to include an 

explicit recognition prohibition for acquired contingent 

assets. 

IAS 16 Amendments to IAS 

16: Proceeds Before 

Intended Use 

Jan. 1, 2022 The amendment to IAS 16 prohibits an entity from 

deducting proceeds from the cost of an item of property, 

plant and equipment generated from selling items produced 

while bringing the asset to that location and condition (such 

as proceeds from the sale of samples produced when 

testing equipment). The amendment also clarifies what is 

meant by “costs of testing”. These include costs to 

ascertain whether the technical and physical performance 

of the asset is such that it is capable of being used for its 

intended purpose. On the other hand, achievement of 

specified financial performance (e.g. a target operating 

profit margin chosen by management) is irrelevant. The 

amendment requires entities to separately present 

proceeds and costs relating to items produced that are not 

an output of the entity’s ordinary activities and to disclose 

the item of the statement of comprehensive income in 

which these proceeds are recognized. 

IAS 37 Amendments to IAS 

37: Onerous Contracts 

— Cost of Fulfilling a 

Contract 

Jan. 1, 2022 The amendment to IAS 37 clarifies that the costs of fulfilling 

a contract include all costs directly attributable to the 

contract. These include incremental costs of fulfilling the 

contract (such as direct labor and materials costs) and an 

allocation of other costs directly attributable to fulfilling a 

contract. It also clarifies that any priority impairment loss 

extends to the assets used to fulfill the contract (previously: 

dedicated to the contract). 
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Standard/Interpretation Mandatory 

application 

Explanation 

 Annual improvements 

to IFRS  

(2018–2020 Cycle) 

Jan. 1, 2022 The following improvements to standards were published in 

May:  

• IFRS 9 – clarifies which fees are to be included in the 

10% test for derecognition of financial liabilities.  

• IFRS 16 – amendment to the illustrative example 13 in 

IFRS 16, which contained statements on payments made 

by lessors to lessees to reimburse expenditure for 

leasehold improvements that were often misunderstood. 

• IFRS 1 – the provision whereby subsidiaries that become 

first-time adopters after their parent have the option to 

measure assets and liabilities at the carrying amounts 

recognized in the parent’s consolidated financial 

statements (without adjustments for consolidation and for 

the effects of the business combination) (exception: 

investment entities) was extended to include the 

subsidiary’s cumulative translation differences. The 

amendment also applies to associates and joint ventures 

that apply the IFRS 1 regulation.  

• IAS 41 – removal of requirement to exclude tax flows from 

taxation when measuring biological assets at fair value 

under IAS 41. This aligns the requirements of IAS 41 with 

the regulations of IFRS 13 and brings them into line with an 

amendment to IAS 41 in 2008, which removed the 

requirement to use a pre-tax rate for discounting when 

measuring fair value. 

 

 

In December 2021, the OECD published model rules for a new global framework for effec-

tive minimum taxation to ensure that the profits of multinational groups with a total an-

nual turnover of at least EUR 750 million are taxed at a minimum rate of 15% per coun-

try. The EU unanimously agreed in Decem-ber 2022 to implement this framework in the 

form of a directive, which will also apply to purely domestic entities with a certain mini-

mum turnover. The EU directive must be transposed into the national law of the member 

states by Dec. 31, 2023, so that it applies to fiscal years beginning after that date. Some 

countries have already published draft legislation on the framework, but the German leg-

islation has not yet been drafted or entered into force. 

For the RENK Holding GmbH Group, the new legal framework is expected to apply from 

fiscal year 2024. RENK Holding GmbH is therefore currently examining the potential fu-

ture impact of the regulations on the Group, including the effects on current and deferred 

taxes and tax payments. 
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(c) New and revised IFRSs not adopted 

RENK did not adopt the following accounting standards that have been adopted by the 

IASB but that are not yet effective for the fiscal year in the 2022 consolidated financial 

statements. 

Standard/Interpretation Published by 

IASB 

Mandatory 

application 

Endorsed 

by EU 

Expected impact 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts; 

including amendments to 

IFRS 17 

May 18, 2017 

June 25, 2020 

Jan. 1, 2023 Yes No impact 

IAS 1 Change to assessment 

criteria for classification of 

liabilities as current or non-

current and disclosures on 

accounting policies 

Jan. 23, 2020 

July 15, 2020 

Feb. 12, 2021 

Jan. 1, 2023 No No impact 

IAS 8 Definition of accounting 

estimates 

Feb. 12, 2021 Jan. 1, 2023 No No material impact 

IAS 12 Deferred tax related to 

assets and liabilities arising 

from a single transaction 

May 7, 2021 Jan. 1, 2023 No No material impact 
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Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement  

The figures from the income statement are comparable only to a limited extent due to the 

acquisition of RENK America during the previous fiscal year.  

(7) Revenue 

EUR thousand 2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

Americas 244,625 190,723 

Germany 188,565 153,004 

Other EU countries 184,913 163,697 

Asia 125,357 128,419 

Other European countries 100,422 54,266 

Africa 3,053 2,536 

Australia and Oceania 2,032 5,015 

  848,967 697,660 
   

 

The revenue recognized at RENK is generated through the sale of goods or services re-

lated to drive technology. Production includes both standard and customer-specific solu-

tions. The services sold include maintenance work. Revenue is recognized when the ser-

vices are provided or when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.  

At contract inception it is determined whether one or more performance obligation is sat-

isfied point in time or over time. If the following IFRS 15.35 criterion is met, the perfor-

mance obligations at RENK are recognized over a period of time.  

The assets created have no alternative use for the entity and the entity has an enforceable 

right to payment by the customer for the performance completed to date.  

In the case of over time fulfillment of performance obligations, sales are recognized ac-

cording to the stage of completion. RENK determines the percentage of completion using 

the input-based method to estimate the costs incurred in relation to the expected total 

costs. The contract costs incurred represent the best benchmark for measuring the de-

gree of fulfillment of the performance obligations. If the expected costs exceed the ex-

pected revenues, an impairment loss is initially recognized for assets used to fulfill the 

contract. Otherwise, appropriate provisions are set aside. RENK Test Systeme is engaged 

in customer-specific plant engineering in the area of propulsion technology and realizes 

sales mainly over time. In addition, RENK America in particular performs customer-spe-

cific contracts which are also recognized over time.  

If the criteria are not met, the performance obligation is settled at a specific point  in time 

based on the criterion of control, essentially when opportunities and risks are trans-

ferred, and the payment claim arises. 
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25.8% of revenue was recognized over a period of time in fiscal year 2022 (EUR  219,286 

thousand, previous year: 17.6%, EUR 123,106 thousand). 

Contracts with customers resulted in the following contract balances:  

EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Trade receivables 144,654 117,497 

Contract assets 83,534 60,068 

Contract liabilities 214,062 161,010 
   

 

In addition to the usual payment terms of a maximum of 90 days after performance, the 

terms of payment also include (pro rata) prepayments.  

The unfulfilled or partially unfulfilled performance obligations under contracts with cus-

tomers are included in the order backlog at a transaction price of EUR 1,406,541 thou-

sand (previous year: EUR 1,276,845 thousand) as of December 31, 2022. The recognition 

of the corresponding revenue is expected in the following fiscal years:  

EUR thousand   

Dec. 31, 2021 2022 2023 to 2028 > 2028 

Transaction price of remaining performance 

obligations as of Dec. 31, 2021 731,834  490,034  54,977  

Dec. 31, 2022 2023 2024 to 2029 > 2029 

Transaction price of remaining performance 

obligations as of Dec. 31, 2022 757,852  596,944  51,744  
    

 

(8) Other operating income 

EUR thousand 2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

Income from exchange rate changes and derivatives 6,218 3,816 

Income from reversal of provisions 3,190 1,224 

Income from derecognition of debtor overpayment 770   

Income from disposal of assets 27 531 

Income from prior-period  13 79 

Miscellaneous other income 1,115 277 

  11,333 5,927 
   

 

Income from exchange rate changes and derivatives firstly includes gains from exchange 

rate changes between the origination and payment date of receivables and liabilities in 
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foreign currency and realized and unrealized price gains from the measurement of deriv-

atives.  

Please see "Other non-current and current provisions" for information on income from 

the reversal of provisions. 

 

(9) Other operating expenses 

EUR thousand 2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

Expenses from currency translation differences 5,473 5,127 

Personnel expenses 3,142 3,340 

Commission expenses 1,800   

Addition to miscellaneous other provisions 1,398 1,458 

Losses from asset disposals  600 167 

Non-refundable expenses 468   

Bank fees 122 160 

Incidental costs of business combinations   7,968 

Miscellaneous other expenses 2,330 2,256 

  15,333 20,477 
   

 

Expenses from exchange rate changes and derivatives firstly include losses from exchange 

rate changes between the origination and payment date of receivables and liabilities in 

foreign currency and realized and unrealized price losses from the measurement of deriv-

atives.  

 

Personnel expenses include severance payments for former employees. Other operating 

expenses comprise the expenses not allocated to functional expenses, in particular the 

cost of sales. 

 
In the previous year, incidental costs of the business combination resulted from costs in 

connection with the acquisition of RENK America.  
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(10) Interest expense and other financial result 

Interest expense 

 

EUR thousand 2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

Interest expenses on bonds 29,233* 17,833* 

Loan interest 5,241 5,888 

Interest on bridge fundings – 4,060 

Guarantee commissions 3,114 3,165 

Interest cost on provisions and liabilities 335 252 

Other interest and similar expenses 3,760 2,402 

  41,683* 33,600* 
   

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond” 

For further information on interest expenses for bonds and loans, please see the “Finan-

cial liabilities” section in the notes to the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Other financial result 

 

EUR thousand 2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

Income     

Income from currency translation 8,846 12,105 

Income from fair value changes of derivatives – 5,451* 

Income from dividends 1,847 1,621 

Income from securities 1,393 426 

Other interest and similar income 170 436 

Expenses   

Expenses from fair value changes of derivatives (18,559)* –  

Expenses from write-downs on non-consolidated entities (2,433) (1,528) 

  (8,736)* 18,511* 
   

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond” 

Income from currency translation mainly relates to effects from the measurement of for-

eign-currency loans. 

Total dividends of EUR 1,847 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,621 thousand) were re-

ceived in the reporting period. This was distributed by Cofical RENK Mancais do Brasil 

Ltda. (previous year: EUR 1,026 thousand Cofical, EUR 594 thousand RENK U.A.E. LLC.). 
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(11) Income taxes 

EUR thousand 2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

Current taxes     

Germany 17,590 8,342 

Outside Germany 7,388 4,998 

Deferred taxes     

Germany (17,070)* 2,930* 

Outside Germany (9,274) (5,158) 

  (1,365)* 11,111* 
   

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond” 

The expected tax expense for fiscal year 2022 reflects the weighted tax rate calculated for 

RENK based on the earnings contributions and tax rates of the individual Group entities. 

The tax rate for the Group as of December 31, 2022 was 30% (previous year: 31.6%). The 

change in the tax rate for the Group is attributable to the change in the Group’s structure 

due to the acquisition of RENK America. 

The tax rate for the Group is based on the domestic tax rate of 32.04% applicable for the 

2022 assessment period (previous year: 32.0%) on profit before tax. This tax rate takes 

into account German municipal trade tax of 16.21% (previous year: 16.1%) as well as the 

German corporate income tax of 15.0% and the solidarity surcharge of 5.5% of corporate 

income tax (both unchanged year-on-year). The change in the tax rate is associated with 

the change in domestic assessment rates and with new domestic entities at various loca-

tions. 

Local tax rates for foreign entities range from 20.12% to 25.64% (previous year: from 

19.0% to 26.13%).  
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Reconciliation of expected current income taxes:  

EUR thousand 2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 % 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 % 

Profit (+) / loss (-) before tax 14,752* 100 10,232* 100 

Expected tax expense 4,425* 30.0* 3,232* 31.6* 

Difference due to changes in tax rates (546)* (4)* 212* 2* 

Tax-free income (986) (7)* (394) (4)* 

Non-deductible expenses 1,228 8* 311 3* 

Effects from permanent accounting 

deviations (1,485) (10)* 2,769 27* 

Effects from change in recognition of 

deferred tax assets 125 1* 0* 0* 

Effects from use of tax credits not 

capitalized in the previous year (635) (4)* 0* 0* 

Effects from ineligible foreign taxes 164 1 0* 0* 

Effects from write-downs of hidden reserves –   6,819 67* 

Taxes for previous years and other (5,058) (34)* (1,838)* (18)* 

Other effects 1,402* 10* 0* 0* 

Current tax expense (1,365)* (9)* 11,111* 109* 
      

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond” 

 

To better present the net assets, financial position and results of operations, the tax rec-

onciliation was expanded in the fiscal year to include reconciliation items. As a result of 

the acquisition of RENK America and intragroup restructuring in the previous year, fig-

ures for expenses and income are comparable only to a limited extent. 

Tax-exempt income mainly relates to tax-exempt investment income in the fiscal year. 

Non-deductible expenses in particular are related to effects from taxes with different tax 

bases. 

Deferred taxes on the remeasurement of pension plans are recognized in other compre-

hensive income.  

Other effects include tax-free effects from squeeze-outs and mergers amounting to EUR 

1,239 thousand. 
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Deferred taxes are attributable to the following items: 

EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Deferred tax assets     

Intangible assets 10,475 4,215 

Property, plant and equipment 767 610 

Other equity investments and financial investments – – 

Inventories 8,785 10,065 

Receivables and other assets 93 1,996 

Pensions and similar obligations 12,270 8,682 

Liabilities and other provisions 20,809* 27,476* 

Loss carryforwards 148 678 

Gross amount 53,347* 53,722* 

Offset (39,629)* (52,231)* 

Carrying amount in statement of financial position 13,718* 1,492* 
   

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond” 

Deferred tax assets on unused tax losses were recognized in the amount of EUR  148 thou-

sand in the fiscal year (previous year: EUR 678 thousand). Based on the anticipated fu-

ture business development at the time the consolidated financial statements were pre-

pared and on the basis of the tax-related earnings planning, this tax asset is expected to 

be utilized within the corresponding utilization period of the losses. No deferred tax as-

sets were recognized for tax loss carryforwards of EUR  8,418 thousand for German corpo-

rate income tax and EUR 7,027 thousand for trade tax as it is not sufficiently probable 

that they can be used to offset tax gains. 

EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Deferred tax liabilities     

Intangible assets 53,491 60,617 

Property, plant and equipment 31,038 34,207 

Other equity investments and financial investments 561* 6,757* 

Inventories 416 454 

Receivables and other assets 14,253 8,978 

Liabilities and other provisions 17,724 28,479 

Gross amount 117,483* 139,492* 

Offset (39,629)* (52,231)* 

Carrying amount in statement of financial position 77,854* 87,261* 
   

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond” 
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The recognition of actuarial gains and losses for pension obligations and plan assets 

through other comprehensive income leads to deferred tax of EUR  6,925 thousand (previ-

ous year: EUR 5,070 thousand). In addition, all other changes with the exception of 

changes due to initial consolidations were recognized through profit or loss.  

No deferred taxes were recognized for taxable temporary difference from retained profits 

in connection with interests in affiliated entities (outside basis differences) of 

EUR 10,534 thousand (previous year: EUR 27,042 thousand) as no reversal of these dif-

ferences is expected in the foreseeable future. 

 

(12) Other income statement disclosures 

The cost of sales includes research and development costs of EUR  18,290 thousand (pre-

vious year: EUR 18,195 thousand). 

Personnel expenses break down as follows:  

EUR thousand 2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

Wages and salaries 223,933 188,619 

Social security contribution 41,984 41,210 

thereof post-employment expenses 8,220 10,516 

  265,917 229,829 
   

 

Personnel expenses are included in the cost of sales in the amount of EUR  209,475 thou-

sand (previous year: EUR 183,611 thousand), in distribution expenses in the amount of 

EUR 31,490 thousand (previous year: EUR 27,947 thousand) and in administrative ex-

penses in the amount of EUR 24,952 thousand (previous year: EUR 18,271 thousand).  

Short-term leases of EUR 455 thousand (previous year: EUR 280 thousand) and low-value 

leases of EUR 195 thousand (previous year: EUR 115 thousand) were recognized directly 

as an expense in the reporting period as part of the exemption for capitalizing leases. 

Low-value leases comprise exclusively long-term contracts. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position 

(13) Business combination 

The RENK Group acquired 100% of shares in General Kinetics Group (“GK”) with effect 

from January 27, 2023. As of the acquisition date, GK comprised four entities:  

• GK Holdco Inc., Brampton, Canada (“GK Holdco”)  

• General Kinetics Engineering Corporation, Brampton, Canada (“GKEC”)  

• General Kinetics Inc., Bedford, USA (“GK Inc.”) 

• General Kinetics LLC, Bedford, USA (“GK LLC”)  

In the course of the integration, various measures under reorganization law are planned 

or have already been implemented to optimize the structure under company law.  

General Kinetics was acquired for a provisional purchase price of EUR 34.8 million. The 

provisional nature relates to individual purchase price elements estimated at the acquisi-

tion date and the fair values of the assets acquired. The company will be fully consoli-

dated with effect from January 27, 2023. The non-current assets from the acquisition 

amount to EUR 1,720 thousand and mainly consist of property, plant and equipment. Cur-

rent assets amounting to EUR 10,042 thousand were mainly composed of inventories 

(EUR 6,162 thousand), trade receivables (EUR 3,480 thousand) and other assets (EUR 

400 thousand). The cash and cash equivalents taken over amount to EUR 203 thousand. 

This is offset by non-current liabilities of EUR 4,297 thousand, of which EUR 1,021 thou-

sand relates to lease liabilities and EUR 3,276 thousand to other non-current liabilities. 

Current liabilities amount to EUR 2,635 thousand. These mainly comprise trade accounts 

payable (EUR 1,556 thousand), lease liabilities (EUR 423 thousand) and other liabilities 

(EUR 656 thousand). 

General Kinetics is a leading provider of chassis systems for military wheeled vehicles. 

This new addition to the RENK Group will allow RENK to provide global mobility solu-

tions for wheeled and tracked vehicles in the future.  

The fair value measurement of acquired assets and liabilities at the acquisition date is 

currently being prepared. Given the proximity of the acquisition date to the date at which 

these financial statements were prepared, no more detailed information can be provided 

for the time being.  

Business combination in 2021 

On March 1, 2021, RENK GmbH signed a contract for the acquisition of the Combat Pro-

pulsion Systems business (“CPS”) and L3Harris Technologies Inc. (“L3Harris”) and 100% 

of the shares in RENK Magnet-Motor GmbH (formerly: Magnet-Motor GmbH) (“MM”) 

from L-3 Communications Holding GmbH for a purchase price totaling around 

USD 398 million or EUR 337 million. After obtaining all necessary official authorizations, 

the purchase agreement concluded was executed with effect from July 2, 2021. The varia-

ble components relate to the cash inflows of CPS for the period from January 1, 2021 to 
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July 2, 2021, the cash outflows of RENK Magnet-Motor to the former owner and a fee that 

is calculated based on the purchase price and the purchase date. After completing the 

transaction, the purchase price comes to USD 356 million or EUR 301 million.  

The purchase price was settled in cash and cash equivalents. The existing bond was in-

creased by a nominal amount of EUR 200 million to finance part of the purchase price. No 

changes were made to the original term of five years or the coupon of 5.75% p.a. The 

bond increase was recognized plus a premium of EUR  6,000 thousand and less the trans-

action costs of EUR 2,545 thousand. This was done using the effective interest method. 

The EUR 4,060 thousand incurred to secure the financing for the transaction is presented 

in interest expense.  

CPS is an established manufacturer of transmissions and engines for tracked vehicles on 

the American and international market. MM is active in the development and construc-

tion of high-performance electric power supply and hybrid drive systems for military ap-

plications. On completion of the acquisition, RENK will become one of the world’s leading 

suppliers of mobility solutions for armored vehicles with a focus on the US and Europe. 

The company will bundle the state-of-the-art technologies of RENK, the Horstman Group 

and CPS and MM.  

RENK Holdings, Inc., Muskegon (MI), USA, a wholly owned subsidiary of RENK GmbH, and 

Combat Mobility Solutions LLC, Muskegon (MI), USA, (CMS), a wholly owned subsidiary of 

RENK Holdings, Inc., were founded in the previous year on March  5, 2021. CMS was re-

named RENK America LLC. On completion of the acquisition, RENK America acquired the 

assets of CPS in an asset deal.  

RENK America LLC and RENK Magnet-Motor GmbH were included in the consolidated fi-

nancial statements of RENK Holding GmbH from the acquisition date July 2, 2021 onward.  

The new subsidiary RENK America formed to take over CPS assets is now a US center of 

excellence for the RENK Group. RENK America will complement and expand the RENK 

Group’s global capacities in research and development, production and services.  

As of the acquisition date, the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

from RENK America and RENK Magnet-Motor break down as follows: 
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EUR thousand July 2, 2021 

Purchase price 301,122 

Intangible assets – customer base 96,818 

Intangible assets – technology 48,381 

Intangible assets – order backlog 34,314 

Other intangible assets 40 

Property, plant and equipment 33,696 

Inventories 6,248 

Trade receivables 292 

Contract assets 59,276 

Other receivables 130 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,825 

Financial liabilities 2,250 

Deferred tax liabilities 471 

Trade payables and contract liabilities 21,950 

Other liabilities 1,529 

Other provisions 1,554 

Goodwill 47,857 
  

 

The goodwill resulting from the purchase price allocation is attributable to the expertise 

of the workforce and to the expectations for future synergies and future sales potential 

within the former Vehicles Transmissions business. This goodwill was fully allocated to 

the Vehicles Transmissions business and is not tax-deductible overall. The trade receiva-

bles of EUR 292 thousand are gross amounts. They were classified as fully collectible as of 

the acquisition date. 

Between July and December 2021, RENK America and RENK Magnet-Motor contributed 

EUR 103,358 thousand to the Group’s revenue, EUR 15,484 thousand to operating profit 

and EUR 17,169 thousand to profit after tax. This includes depreciation and amortization 

(excluding depreciation and amortization from purchase price allocation) of EUR 1,239 

thousand. 

If the transaction had taken place on January 1, 2021, additional revenue of 

EUR 109,732 thousand, additional operating profit of EUR 37,989 thousand and addi-

tional profit after tax of EUR 28,012 thousand (at an income tax rate of 26% applicable in 

the jurisdiction) would have been taken into account. Additional depreciation and amorti-

zation (excluding depreciation and amortization from purchase price allocation) of EUR 

1,333 thousand would have had to be taken into account for the first half of the year.  

Taking account of the depreciation and amortization and deferred taxes from the pur-

chase price allocation, there is an additional negative impact on earnings of EUR  21,649 

thousand for the period from July to December 2021; if the acquisition had taken place at 

the beginning of 2021 already, an additional EUR  21,649 thousand would have been taken 

into account, reducing earnings. 

Costs of EUR 7,968 thousand were incurred in the Group in connection with the business 

combination. These costs are recognized in full in Other operating expenses.  
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To expand the RENK America US center of excellence, the subsidiaries RENK Systems Cor-

poration, Camby (IN), USA, and RENK Corporation, Duncan (SC), USA, were transferred to 

the new RENK GmbH subsidiary – RENK Holdings, Inc. – in the form of an equity contri-

bution on July 2, 2021 as part of internal corporate restructuring. 

RENK Holdings, Inc. will assume the holding function for RENK America and the Group 

entities transferred. 

 

(14) Intangible assets 

EUR thousand Licenses, software 

and similar rights 

Goodwill Other intangible 

assets 

Total 

As of Jan. 1, 2021 39,438 27,352 172,872 239,663 

Additions 1,247   52 1,299 

Reclassifications 96   (1) 95 

Disposals (951)     (951) 

Depreciation/amortization (6,265)   (37,321) (43,586) 

Cumulative depreciation/amortization 

on disposals 934     934 

Addition to scope of consolidation 50,501 47,857 136,886 235,244 

Currency adjustment 78 1,744 1,051 2,873 

As of Dec. 31, 2021 85,078 76,953 273,539 435,570 

Additions 2,121 323 85 2,529 

Reclassifications 155 0 231 387 

Disposals (731) 0 0 (731) 

Depreciation/amortization (9,873) 0 (51,572) (61,445) 

Cumulative depreciation/amortization 

on disposals 168 0 0 168 

Addition to scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 

Currency adjustment 3,044 1,972 7,460 12,476 

As of Dec. 31, 2022 79,963 79,247 229,744 388,954 

Gross carrying amount on Dec. 31, 

2022 106,330 79,247 323,728 509,306 

Cumulative depreciation/amortization 

and impairment losses (26,367)   (93,984) (120,352) 
     

 

Other intangible assets include values for brands, customer relationships and other intan-

gible assets from the business combinations in previous fiscal years. Amortization of in-

tangible assets is included in the functional expenses, in the cost of sales in particular.  

The addition to the scope of consolidation in the previous year relates to the initial consol-

idation in connection with acquiring RENK America.  

 

In RENK, the carrying amount of goodwill is tested for impairment at the end of each fis-

cal year.  
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Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the Divisons Ve-

hicle Mobility Solutions, Test Systems and Slide Bearings. Impairment testing is per-

formed at the level of these (groups of) cash-generating units. 

 

The goodwill resulting from the acquisition of RENK in 2020 was allocated to the Vehicle 

Transmissions (previous year: EUR 19,419 thousand) and Slide Bearings (previous year: 

EUR 7,933 thousand) businesses.  

 

The remaining goodwill of EUR 52,647 thousand from the business combination with 

RENK America and RENK Magnet-Motor in fiscal year 2021 is fully allocated to Vehicle 

Transmissions. Please refer to the accounting principles in section (c) Intangible assets.  

 

The reorganization completed in fiscal year 2022 will lead to a partial reallocation of 

goodwill. There are no changes for the Slide Bearings division, as its content is analogous 

to that of the former Slide Bearings division. The content of the Vehicle Mobility Solutions 

division has changed slightly compared to the Vehicle Transmissions division, as the Test 

Systems business has been spun off. Goodwill of EUR 4,016 thousand was allocated to the 

Test Systems division as a cash-generating unit. This was still allocated to the Vehicle 

Transmissions division in 2021. Goodwill of EUR 65,005 thousand is attributable to Vehi-

cle Mobility Solutions as a cash-generating unit in 2022. 

 

The recoverable amount of the respective business segments is determined by calculating 

the value in use. The values in use of the cash-generating units exceeded the allocated net 

assets in each case. The calculation is based on forecasts of cash flows over the next three 

years and a subsequent perpetuity. The table below shows the main assumptions on 

which the calculation of the values in use is based:  

 

  Vehicle 

Mobility 

Solutions 

Test 

Systems 

Slide 

Bearings 

Vehicle 

transmissi

on 

Slide 

Bearings 

in % 2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 

Discount rate 8.5 8.5 9.0 7.5 7.5 

Sustainable growth rate 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Planned EBIT growth rate (average for 

next three years) 10.1 11.8 21.2 2.6 7.6 
      

 

With regard to price and cost increases, development is assumed to be in line with gen-

eral inflation levels. 

In determining the pretax discount rate (weighted average cost of capital (WACC)), the 

cost of equity and debt was based on a segment-specific peer group. These entities have 

similar business and product portfolios to those of RENK and thus comprise the most im-

portant national and international competitors. The weighting of the cost of equity and 

debt was based per CGU on the peer group's average debt/equity ratios. A market interest 

rate of 1.5% (previous year: 0.1%) was applied. 
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The cash flow forecasts included specific estimates for three years and a perpetual 

growth rate thereafter. The sustainable growth rate was calculated based on an estimate 

by the management. The key factors driving cash flows in the planning phase are rising 

sales in virtually all divisions, driven in particular by higher demand in key product 

groups 

Separately from the current and assumed economic situation, a sensitivity analysis was 

performed with regard to the recoverability of goodwill in the business segments. The 

effects of the following scenarios were examined.  

• Increase in the discount rate by 2.5%-point 

• Decrease in the growth rate in the perpetuity to 0%.  

The sensitivity analyses showed that with these assumptions, too, there is currently no 

need to recognize impairment of goodwill in any division.  

 

Goodwill developed as follows: 

EUR thousand Vehicle 

Mobility 

Solutions 

Test 

Systems Slide 

Bearings Total 

Carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2021 19,419  7,933 27,352 

Additions 47,857    47,857 

Currency translation differences 1,744    1,744 

Carrying amount of goodwill as of Dec. 31, 2021 69,021  7,933 76,953 

Reallocation (4,016) 4,016  0 

Additions 323    323 

Currency translation differences 1,972  – 1,972 

Carrying amount of goodwill as of Dec. 31, 2022 67,300 4,016 7,933 79,247 
     

 

 

The addition to goodwill in the Vehicle Mobility Solutions division relates to the consoli-

dation of the previously non-consolidated subsidiary Horstman Systems Inc., Canada.  
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(15) Property, plant and equipment  

 

EUR thousand 

Land and 

buildings 

Right-of-use 

assets on land 

and buildings 

As of Jan. 1, 2021 109,217 5,473 

Additions 4,594 180 

Reclassifications 7,410   

Disposals (20) (194) 

Depreciation/amortization (4,469) (1,430) 

Write-downs   1 

Reclassifications depreciation and amortization     

Cumulative depreciation/amortization on disposals 9 195 

Addition to scope of consolidation 17,377 2,247 

Currency adjustment 556 149 

As of Dec. 31, 2021 134,674 6,621 

Additions 3,272 1,209 

Reclassifications 9,597 0 

Disposals (41) (1,645) 

Depreciation/amortization (5,547) (1,397) 

Write-downs 0 0 

Reclassifications depreciation and amortization 0 0 

Cumulative depreciation/amortization on disposals 3 358 

Addition to scope of consolidation 0 0 

Currency adjustment 895 125 

As of Dec. 31, 2022 142,852 5,271 

Gross carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2022 205,741 9,943 

Cumulative depreciation/amortization and impairment losses (62,888) (4,672) 
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Technical 

equipment and 

machinery 

Other equipment, 

operating and office 

equipment 

Right-of-use 

assets on other 

equipment, 

operating and 

office 

equipment 

Prepayments 

and assets 

under 

construction Total 

143,471 16,527 291 25,361 300,340 

11,453 4,947 267 10,017 31,458 

7,483 386   (15,373) (94) 

(3,303) (490) (273) (2,228) (6,508) 

(21,537) (5,003) (271)   (32,710) 

        1 

        0 

3,066 754 270   4,294 

11,933 510 0 2,903 34,970 

545 (715) 5 87 627 

153,111 16,916 289 20,767 332,378 

7,068 3,127 349 10,710 25,734 

5,977 302 0 (16,194) (318) 

(888) (3,141) (213) (49) (13,036) 

(22,554) (5,212) (203) 0 (34,913) 

0 0 0 0 0 

0 (69) 0 0 (69) 

563 2,861 173 0 11,017 

0 0 0 0 0 

746 31 (6) 397 2,188 

144,023 14,814 389 15,631 322,981 

331,529 51,007 697 15,631 614,548 

(187,506) (36,193) (308) 0 (291,567) 
     

 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is included in the functional expenses, in 

the cost of sales in particular. 

Property, plant and equipment from the acquisition of RENK America are recognized un-

der addition to the scope of consolidation in the previous year.  

The leases recognized as right-of-use assets comprise buildings, warehouse space and ve-

hicle leases. Total cash outflows for the right-of-use assets come to EUR 2,068 thousand 

in the current fiscal year (previous year: EUR 2,002 thousand). 
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(16) Inventories 

EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 47,871 41,062 

Finished goods and work in progress 218,015 203,498 

Prepayments for inventories 9,709 5,480 

  275,595 250,040 
   

Consumption of inventories of EUR 525,060 thousand (previous year: EUR 415,970 thou-

sand) was recognized in the cost of sales in the reporting period.  

Impairment losses on inventories of EUR 2,290 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,980 thou-

sand) were recognized in the fiscal year.  

 

(17) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables break down as follows: 

EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Customer receivables 129,391 107,202 

Receivables from affiliated, non-consolidated entities 6,131 5,860 

Customer prepayment receivables 9,132 4,434 

  144,654 117,497 
   

All customer prepayment receivables are current. 

 

(18) Contract assets 

Contract assets developed as follows:  

EUR thousand 2022 2021 

As of Jan. 1 60,068 2,565 

Addition to scope of consolidation   61,494 

Additions and disposals 20,523 (3,677) 

Change in loss allowance 87 (95) 

Currency changes 2,855 (218) 

As of Dec. 31 83,534 60,068 
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(19) Other non-current and current assets and other receivables 

EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Restricted cash 7,861 7,851 

Receivables from loans 1,814 2,093 

Embedded derivatives 1,409* 19,968* 

Derivative financial instruments 217 8 

Miscellaneous other financial assets 1,319 2,305 

Other financial assets 12,620* 32,225* 

Deferred assets 4,696 4,362 

Other tax assets 3,839 2,157 

Receivables from surplus of plan assets 1,960 0 

Commission claims 1,566 1,411 

Miscellaneous other receivables 2,365 3,729 

Other receivables 14,425 11,659 

  27,045* 43,883* 
   

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond” 

Other financial assets include non-current financial assets of EUR 1,957 thousand (previ-

ous year: EUR 22,133 thousand) and other receivables include non-current receivables of 

EUR 2,415 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,561 thousand). 

The restricted cash essentially comprises the cash collateral for bilateral guarantee credit 

lines. 

Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value. They are used to hedge currency 

risks on customer orders and other foreign exchange positions.  

Embedded Derivative consists of options giving the issuer and bond holder the right, but 

not the obligation, to early redeem the instrument or put it back to the issuer (in some 

cases contingent upon a certain event). See further details in section (23). 

Deferred assets essentially include prepaid services for maintenance contracts and li-

censes. 

Commission claims include prepaid commission for ongoing projects.  

(20) Equity 

As in the previous year, subscribed capital at RENK Holding GmbH amounts to EUR  25 

thousand.  

The capital reserves relate exclusively to capital contributions of Rebecca BidCo  SARL, 

Luxembourg, at RENK Holding GmbH.  
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The accumulated other comprehensive income predominantly results from the fair value 

measurement of provisions for pension obligations.  

The most important goals of capital management at RENK are sustainably increasing en-

terprise value and safeguarding the liquidity and creditworthiness of the Group. Factors 

contributing to this are the reduction of the cost of capital, the optimization of the capital 

structure and effective risk management. 

RENK Holding GmbH is not subject to any capital requirements on the scope of its Articles 

of Association. 

(21) Pensions and similar obligations 

RENK Group grants its employees retirement benefits in accordance with the country-

specific circumstances in the form of defined benefit or defined contribution pension 

plans. 

In defined contribution plans, contributions are paid to state or private pension funds on 

the scope of legal or contractual regulations. There are no further payment obligations 

other than the payment of contributions.  

Current contributions are recognized as an expense in the respective year; in 2022 they 

amounted to a total of EUR 16,554 thousand (previous year: EUR 15,181 thousand) at 

RENK Group. 

The following amounts were recognized in the statement of financial position for defined 

benefit pension plans: 

EUR thousand 2022 2021 

Present value of externally financed obligations 162,721 195,791 

Plan assets at fair value (173,897) (194,499) 

Funding status on December 31 (11,176) 1,292 

Present value of unfunded obligations 489 566 

Total (10,687) 1,858 

of which provisions for pension obligations 1,457 6,411 

of which over-collateralization IAS 19.64a (12,144) (4,554) 

 of which asset ceiling IAS 19.64b (10,184) (4,554) 

 of which recognized over-collateralization (1,960) 0 
   

 

The change in the asset ceiling (EUR 10,184 thousand) is recognized in full in cumulative 

other comprehensive income as the time value of money included here is immaterial. 

The development of the present value of externally funded obligations and plan assets as 

of the period is shown in the following tables for fiscal years 2021 and 2022:  
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 EUR thousand 

Present 

value of 

the 

obligation 

Fair value 

of plan 

assets Delta 

Impact of 

asset 

ceiling 

Net 

carrying 

amount 

            

Jan. 1, 2021 195,965 179,942 16,023   16,023 

Service cost 9,654   9,654   9,654 

Interest expense / 

(interest income) 672 610 62   62 

Total income recognized 

in profit or loss 10,326 610 9,717 0 9,717 

Revaluations     0   0 

Actuarial gains (-

)/losses (+) from 

changes in demographic 

assumptions (1,194) 11,784 (12,978)   (12,978) 

Actuarial gains (-

)/losses (+) from 

changes in financial 

assumptions (7,860)   (7,860)   (7,860) 

Actuarial gains (-

)/losses (+) from 

experience adjustments 1,922   1,922   1,922 

Change in asset ceiling, 

excluding amounts 

included in interest 

expense     0 4,554  4,554 

Total amount recognized 

in other comprehensive 

income (7,132) 11,784 (18,916) 4,554 (14,362) 

Foreign exchange rate 

differences 2,133 2,075 57   57 

Contributions:     0   0 

Employer   2,844 (2,844)   (2,844) 

Beneficiary employees 1,653 787 866   866 

Payments from the plan     0   0 

Performance payments (7,782) (4,737) (3,046)   (3,046) 

Compensations 1,194 1,194 0   0 

Effects of business 

combinations     0   0 

  (2,803) 2,163 (4,966) 0 (4,966) 

Dec. 31, 2021 196,356 194,499 1,857 4,554 6,411 
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 EUR thousand 

Present 

value of 

the 

obligatio

n 

Fair value 

of plan 

assets Delta 

Impact of 

asset 

ceiling 

Net 

carrying 

amount 

            

Jan. 1, 2022 196,356 194,499 1,857 4,554  6,411 

Service cost 6,709   6,709   6,709 

Interest expense / 

(interest income) 1,656 1,561 95   95 

Total income recognized 

in profit or loss 8,365 1,561 6,804 0 6,804 

Revaluations     0   0 

Actuarial gains (-)/losses 

(+) from changes in 

demographic 

assumptions 1 (25,222) 25,223   25,223 

Actuarial gains (-)/losses 

(+) from changes in 

financial assumptions (32,055)   (32,055)   (32,055) 

Actuarial gains (-)/losses 

(+) from experience 

adjustments (1,594)   (1,594)   (1,594) 

Change in asset ceiling, 

excluding amounts 

included in interest 

expense     0 5,630 5,630 

Total amount recognized 

in other comprehensive 

income (33,649) (25,222) (8,427) 5,630 (2,797) 

Foreign exchange rate 

differences 2,318 2,542 (223)   (223) 

Contributions:     0   0 

Employer   3,888 (3,888)   (3,888) 

Beneficiary employees 1,579 854 725   725 

Payments from the plan     0   0 

Performance payments (11,709) (4,175) (7,534)   (7,534) 

Compensations (49) (49) 0   0 

Effects of business 

combinations     0   0 

  (7,862) 3,059 (10,921) 0 (10,921) 

Dec. 31, 2022 163,211 173,897 (10,687) 10,184 (503) 
      

 

(a) Pension plans in Germany 

As one of the essential elements of its remuneration policy, RENK Group provides its do-

mestic employees with benefits under an occupational pension system for the time after 

their active working life. This provides reliable additional income on retirement and risk 

protection for disability and death. 

Under the current pension plans, the active employees receive employer contributions 

linked to their remuneration and, in addition, also have the option of personal provision 
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through deferred compensation (paid for by the employer for employees subject to collec-

tive bargaining agreements). When actively working, employees accrue pension capital 

from employer- and employee-financed contributions and returns from investment on the 

capital market. On retirement this pension capital is paid out as a lump sum or in install-

ments, or in certain cases can be converted into an annuity. Employees' investment risks 

are gradually reduced with increasing age (lifecycle concept). The performance of the 

pension capital is derived from the return on the investments. As required by law, at least 

the total contributions paid for the employee will be paid out on retirement.  

Former employees, including pensioners and employees who have left the plan with 

vested benefits, have pension commitments from closed pension funds, which are pre-

dominantly geared towards providing lifetime annuity payments. These commitments en-

tail the usual longevity and inflation risks, which are regularly monitored and evaluated. 

As a result of leaving the VW and MAN group, the RENK Pension Trust e.V. was estab-

lished in 2020; this replaces MAN Pension Trust e.V. and manages the RENK pension as-

sets. The RENK GmbH Investment Committee, supported by Willis Towers Watson Invest-

ments GmbH, is now responsible for investments. 

RENK Pension Trust e.V. / WTW Pensionsfonds AG manages the German pension assets of 

RENK Group. These assets are irrevocably unavailable to the RENK entities and must be 

used exclusively to fund current pension payments or for employee claims in the event of 

insolvency. The proper management and use of trust assets is monitored by independent 

trustees. WTW Pensionsfonds AG is also subject to the supervision of the German Federal 

Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin).  

The pension assets are invested by professional investment managers according to invest-

ment guidelines set by an Investment Committee. The strategic allocation of plan assets is 

based on asset liability management studies conducted at regular intervals. 

(b) Pension plans outside Germany 

In Switzerland, the defined benefit pension claims and the actuarial reserves are managed 

in industry-wide company pension institutions. Employees accrue pension capital with 

these institutions, which is then converted into a lifelong pension under the conditions 

prevailing at the time. The pension institutions are managed conservatively based on gov-

ernment regulations. If the claims are no longer covered by capital due to negative market 

developments, restructuring contributions can be levied from the affiliated employers 

and their employees. 

(c) Funding status 

The calculation of the present value of defined benefit obligations is based on the follow-

ing assumptions: 
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in % Germany Outside Germany 

  2022 2021 2022 2021 

Discount rate as of 

Dec. 31 3.70 1.00 2.32 1.35 

Salary trend 3.20 3.00 2.51 1.17 

Pension trend 2.20 1.70 0.00 0.00 

Fluctuation rate 2.57 2.55 8.61 3.46 
     

 

The biometric data are based on current mortality tables for each specific country. For 

Germany, the Heubeck 2005 G mortality tables were adjusted in line with empirical data 

specific to RENK and therefore better reflect mortality than the current RT2018G mortal-

ity tables. The BVG 2015 GT mortality tables were used for Switzerland.  

Discount rates are based on the yields on corporate bonds with high credit ratings, with a 

maturity and currency matching the respective obligations. Pension and salary trends ei-

ther correspond to contractual adjustments or are based on those found in the general 

regulations applicable. Salary trends comprise expected wage and salary increases that 

also take into account increases resulting from career development.  

The present value of defined benefit obligations developed as follows:  

EUR thousand 2022 2021 

Defined benefit obligation at start of period 196,356 195,965 

Addition to scope of consolidation   – 

Current service cost 6,709 9,654 

Interest expense 1,656 672 

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to changes in demographic 

assumptions 1 (1,194) 

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to changes in financial 

assumptions (32,055) (7,860) 

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to experience adjustments (1,594) 1,922 

Employee contributions to funds 1,579 1,653 

Pension payments from company assets (7,537) (3,046) 

Pension payments from fund (4,172) (4,737) 

Other changes (49) 1,194 

Currency differences from plans abroad 2,318 2,133 

Defined benefit obligation on December 31 163,211 196,356 
   

 

Changes in the main actuarial assumptions would have had the following effects on de-

fined benefit obligations: 
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    Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Present value of defined 

benefit obligation if 

  EUR 

thousand 

% EUR 

thousand 

% 

Discount rate + 0.5 

percentage 

points 157,298 (3.76)% 187,667 (4.63)% 

  (0.5) 

percentage 

points 169,797 3.88% 206,151 4.75% 

Salary trend + 0.5 

percentage 

points 164,803 0.97% 202,485 3.03% 

  (0.5) 

percentage 

points 161,759 (0.90)% 191,829 (2.36)% 

Pension trend + 0.5 

percentage 

points 163,480 0.16% 196,732 0.19% 

  (0.5) 

percentage 

points 162,952 (0.16)% 196,004 (0.18)% 

Life expectancy + 1 year 166,703 2.09% 201,500 2.55% 
      

 

The sensitivity analyses shown each take into account the change in one assumption with 

the other assumptions unchanged from the original calculation, i.e. possible correlation 

effects between the individual assumptions are not taken into account.  

To analyze the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to a change in the assumed life 

expectancy, the age of beneficiaries was decreased by one year as part of a comparative 

calculation. 

The weighted average term to maturity (Macaulay duration) of the defined benefit obliga-

tions is eleven years. 

The defined benefit obligation is divided among the members of the plan as follows:  

EUR thousand 2022 2021 

Active members 81,678 105,625 

Former members 8,904 17,481 

Beneficiaries 72,629 73,251 

Present value of defined benefit obligation 163,211 196,356 
   

 

The maturity profile of the payments for the defined benefit obligation is shown below by 

breaking down the present value of the obligation by the maturity of the underlying pay-

ments: 
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EUR thousand 2022 2021 

Payment due     

Within one year 7,567 7,383 

Between one and five years 39,356 38,549 

More than five years 116,287 150,425 

Present value of defined benefit obligation 163,211 196,356 
   

 

The development of plan assets is shown by the table below:  

EUR thousand 2022 2021 

Plan assets as of January 1 194,499 179,942 

Addition to scope of consolidation   0 

Interest income on plan assets – at the level of the actuarial 

interest rate 1,561 610 

Actuarial gains/losses (25,222) 11,784 

Employer contributions to funds 3,888 2,844 

Employee contributions to funds 854 787 

Pension payments from fund (4,175) (4,737) 

Other changes (49) 1,194 

Currency differences from plans abroad 2,542 2,075 

Plan assets as of December 31 173,897 194,499 
   

 

The investment of plan assets resulted in income of EUR 23,661 thousand (previous year: 

EUR 12,394 thousand), of which EUR 21,207 thousand (previous year: EUR 9,193 thou-

sand) relates to plan assets in Germany and EUR 2,454 thousand (previous year: 

EUR 3,201 thousand) to plan assets in other countries.  

The other cash flow resulting from a partial liquidation balance sheet of the Swiss pen-

sion institution was presented under "Other changes” in the previous year.  

In the next fiscal year employer contributions to plan assets are expected to amount to 

EUR 5,391 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,493 thousand). 

The plan assets are invested in the following categories:  
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EUR thousand Quoted price 

on an active 

market 

No quoted 

price on an 

active market Total 

Quoted price 

on an active 

market 

No quoted price 

on an active 

market Total 

  Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Cash and cash 

equivalents 2,407   2,407 4,445   4,445 

Equity instruments 10,926   10,926 11,718   11,718 

Debt instruments 16,418   16,418 14,738   14,738 

Direct investments in real 

estate   15,185 15,185   13,490 13,490 

Real estate funds 1,809   1,809 1,313   1,313 

Other funds 120,579   120,579 142,762   142,762 

Other 3,209 3,364 6,573 2,923 3,111 6,034 

Plan assets at fair value 155,348 18,549 173,897 177,899 16,600 194,499 
       

 

The trust assets of the domestic entities that are invested in the mixed specialty fund are 

recognized under Other funds. 

 

The plan assets are 69% (previous year: 74%) invested in domestic assets,  30% (previous 

year: 26%) in other European assets and 1% (previous year: 0%) in assets from other re-

gions. In this context, no investments were made in the RENK bond, in debt instruments 

issued by the Group or in other assets that are leased to the Group.  

 

(d) Expenses for pension obligations 

The following amounts were recognized in the income statement: 

EUR thousand 2022 2021 

Current service cost 6,709 9,654 

Net interest expense (+)/income (–) 95 62 

  6,804 9,716 
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(22) Other non-current and current provisions 

EUR thousand 

Warranties 

Outstanding 

costs 

Obligations to 

employees 

Miscellaneous 

other 

provisions Total 

As of Jan. 1, 2022 48,777 5,340 15,701 10,339 80,157 

Utilization (7,830) (1,910) (7,587) (1,825) (19,151) 

Addition 8,285 3,081 8,476 6,583 26,425 

Addition to scope of 

consolidation           

Reversal (5,010) (1,116) (1,243) (4,276) (11,644) 

Interest cost 117 0 72 0 189 

Currency translation 

differences 28 31 189 241 488 

As of Dec. 31, 2022 44,368 5,426 15,609 11,061 76,464 
      

 

Other provisions break down according to maturity as follows: 

EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

  Non-

current 

Current Non-

current 

Current 

Warranties 3,894 40,474 4,948 43,829 

Outstanding costs   5,426 – 5,340 

Obligations to employees 6,219 9,390 7,478 8,223 

Miscellaneous other provisions 1,154 9,907 1,110 9,229 

  11,267 65,196 13,536 66,621 
     

 

Provisions for warranties relate to legal and contractual warranty obligations and to 

goodwill towards customers. The timing of the utilization of provisions for warranties is 

dependent on the occurrence of the warranty claim and can extend over the entire war-

ranty and goodwill period. Provisions are recognized here both for warranties on single-

item production and as a lump sum for series production. 

Provisions for outstanding costs comprise provisions for outstanding incoming invoices, 

risks from customer contracts recognized over a period of time and outstanding services 

for invoiced customer contracts. 

Non-current obligations to employees relate in particular to partial retirement and anni-

versaries. Current obligations to employees primarily relate to provisions for severance 

payments and leave. 

Miscellaneous other provisions essentially relate to provisions for anticipated losses from 

onerous contracts and penalties. 
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(23) Financial liabilities 

EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Bonds 521,925* 522,590* 

Loan liabilities 91,395 86,154 

Lease liabilities 4,374 5,373 

Non-current financial liabilities 617,694* 614,117* 

Bonds (current portion) 13,787* 13,787* 

Liabilities from cash pool 2,398 275 

Lease liabilities 1,528 1,695 

Current financial liabilities 17,713* 15,757* 

  635,407* 629,874* 
   

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond” 

On July 13, 2020 a bond with a principal amount of 320m€ has been issued. To finance 

the acquisition of RENK America in the previous year, the existing bond from 2020 was 

increased by EUR 200 million on June 30, 2021. No changes were made to the term of five 

years or the coupon of 5.75% p.a. The bond consists of multiple early redemption options 

which may be exercised at the discretion of the issuer or the bondholder. The early re-

demption options have been identified as a single compound embedded derivative instru-

ment, which was bifurcated from the host contract as it is not closely related to the host 

contract.  

The bond is listed on the TISE in Guernsey, bears interest of 5.75% p.a. and is collateral-

ized by pledging bank accounts, receivables and shares of the guarantors. Financial liabil-

ities from loans are not collateralized. 

Please see the “Risk management and financial instruments” section for information on 

maturities. 
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The following tables show the changes in liabilities arising from financing activities for 

fiscal years 2021 and 2022: 

EUR thousand 

Bonds Loan liabilities Lease liabilities 

Liabilities to 

investees 

As of Jan. 1, 2021 327,939* 177,612 5,828 0 

Addition to scope of consolidation     2,250 – 

Proceeds from issuing bonds 200,000   – – 

Transaction costs (2,545)   – – 

Premium 6,000       

Repayment of loan liabilities   (40,606) – – 

Interest payments (18,981) (947)     

Cash outflows from leasing     (2,002)   

Change in liabilities from cash pool 

affecting cash     – 275 

Cash flows from financing activities 184,474 (41,554) (2,002) 275 

Effects of changes in foreign exchange 

rates 0 (73) 160 0 

Debt equity swap   (48,852)     

Offsetting IAS 24 receivables   (6,866)     

Addition of lease liabilities     984   

Interest expense** 17,833* 5,888 (152) – 

Embedded derivatives 6,132*    

Non-cash changes in financial liabilities 23,967* (49,904) 992 0 

As of Dec. 31, 2021 536,377* 86,154 7,068 275 

As of Jan. 1, 2022 536,377* 86,154 7,068 275 

Interest payments (29,900)       

Cash outflows from leasing     (2,068)   

Change in liabilities from cash pool 

affecting cash and cash equivalents       2,123 

Cash flows from financing activities (29,900) 0 (2,068) 2,123 

Effects of changes in foreign exchange 

rates     120   

Addition of lease liabilities     886   

Interest expense** 29,233* 5,241 (103) – 

Embedded derivatives 0*    

Non-cash changes in financial liabilities 29,233* 5,241 903 0 

As of Dec. 31, 2022 535,712* 91,395 5,903 2,398 
     

*Figures have been adjusted, explanations regarding changes in the figures in the consolidated financial statements 

for 2022 and the comparative period 2021 can be found in the “General principles” section of the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements under “Correction of a material misstatement in the accounting treatment of a bond”. 

**Includes the effect of the premium in profit or loss (using the effective interest method). 
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(24) Contract liabilities 

EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Contract liabilities, non-current 72,792 39,398 

Contract liabilities, current 134,192 117,202 

Liabilities from customer prepayment receivables 7,078 4,411 

  214,062 161,010 
   

 

Contract liabilities developed as follows in fiscal year 2022:  

 

EUR thousand 2022 2021 

As of Jan. 1 161,011 184,924 

Additions and disposals 52,386 (36,483) 

Addition to scope of consolidation   11,796 

Currency changes 665 774 

As of Dec. 31 214,062 161,010 
   

 

(25) Other non-current and current liabilities 

EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Derivative financial instruments 1,915 2,002 

Miscellaneous other financial liabilities 980 1,542 

Other financial liabilities 2,895 3,544 

of which long-term 265 639 

Employee-related liabilities 30,772 25,410 

Liabilities from other taxes 389 259 

Miscellaneous other liabilities 2,724 1,837 

Other liabilities 33,884 27,506 

of which long-term 48 30 

  36,779 31,050 
   

 

Employee-related liabilities mainly include deferred vacation not yet taken, annual bo-

nuses and working time accounts as well as wages and salaries and social insurance con-

tributions not yet paid at the end of the reporting period.  
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Other Disclosures 

(26) Contingent liabilities 

EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

Obligations from guarantees 130 168 

Other contingent liabilities 2,181 820 

  2,311 988 
   

  

Obligations from guarantees relates to guarantees under trade obligations of equity in-

vestments. 

Other contingent liabilities include contingent liabilities from penalties.  

Contingent liabilities are usually measured in the amount of the maximum claims on 

RENK. Any rights of recourse are not deducted. 

(27) Other financial obligations 

Other financial obligations comprise current rental agreements and leases that are not 

capitalized on account of the exemption under IFRS 16. These primarily relate to renting 

work clothes and office printers. The maturities of future rental and lease payments until 

the end of their minimum term amount to EUR 325 thousand (previous year: 

EUR 470 thousand). 

The capitalized leases create potential future payments of EUR  4,766 thousand (previous 

year: EUR 4,277 thousand) resulting from extension options not yet taken into account 

and termination options of EUR 49 thousand (previous year: EUR 1 thousand).  

As of the end of the reporting period, the purchase commitment for the acquisition of in-

tangible assets and property, plant and equipment was EUR  12,796 thousand (previous 

year: EUR 5,935 thousand). The commitment value for the acquisition of inventories and 

services was EUR 267,753 thousand (previous year: EUR 180,049 thousand). 

(28) Additional disclosures in accordance with section 315e HGB 

(a) Number of employees 

RENK employed 3,079 persons (previous year: 2,639 persons) on average over the year. 

Of these, 1,721 (previous year: 1,470) worked directly and 1,358 (previous year: 1,169) 

indirectly in production. There were 45 (previous year: 38) employees in the non-active 

phase of early retirement. On average, 106 (previous year: 116) people were in vocational 

training. 
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(b) Total remuneration for work by the auditor 

On September 19, 2022, the Annual General Meeting of RENK Holding GmbH selected 

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftspru fungsgesellschaft, Munich, as statutory 

auditor for the 2022 consolidated financial statements.  

The table below shows the fees charged for the work of the auditor Pricewaterhouse-

Coopers GmbH Wirtschaftspru fungsgesellschaft in fiscal year 2022 and EY GmbH 

Wirtschaftspru fungsgesellschaft in fiscal year 2021: 

EUR thousand 2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

Audit of the financial statements 661 514 

Other assurance services 111 542 

Other services 53 169 

Tax advisory services 31 18 

Auditor remuneration 856 1,243 
   

 

Audit services comprise the audit of the consolidated financial statements of RENK Hold-

ing GmbH and the IFRS audits and IFRS reviews of individual subsidiaries.  
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(c) List of shareholdings of RENK Holding GmbH as of December 31, 2022 

Name and registered office of the 

company 

Share of 

capital in 

% 

Local 

currency 

(LC) 

Equity  

(1,000 LC) 

Earnings 

(1,000 LC) 

Type of 

inclusion 

RENK GmbH, Augsburg 100 EUR 78,111,992 9,398,277 consolidated 

RENK FinCo GmbH, Augsburg 100 EUR 312,120,343 11,272 consolidated 

RENK Test System GmbH, Augsburg 100 EUR 11,852,462 0 consolidated 

RENK Magnet-Motor GmbH, Starnberg 100 EUR 2,761,859 0 consolidated 

RENK France S.A.S., Saint-Ouen-

l’Aumône, France 100 EUR 29,299,398 2,755,982 consolidated 

Schelde Gears B.V., Vlissingen, 

Netherlands 100 EUR 3,111,680 216,303 at cost 

RENK (UK) Ltd., London, UK (inactive) 100 GBP n/a n/a at cost 

Horstman Defence Systems Ltd., Bath, 

UK 100 GBP 20,506,842 3,631,274 consolidated 

Horstman Holdings Ltd., Bath, UK 100 GBP 12,813,501 (131,315) consolidated 

RENK-MAAG GmbH, Winterthur, 

Switzerland 100 CHF 10,398,148 2,310,095 consolidated 

RENK Transmisyon Sanayi A.S., Istanbul, 

Turkey* 55 TRY 23,629,607 8,433,984 at cost 

RENK UAE LLC, Abu Dhabi, United Arab 

Emirates 49 AED 32,513,408 3,443,200 FVOCI 

RENK America LLC, Muskegon, USA 100 USD 411,555,319 48,726,389 consolidated 

RENK Holdings Inc., Muskegon, USA 100 USD 148,831,071 (1,079,317) consolidated 

RENK Corporation, Duncan, South 

Carolina, USA 100 USD 9,393,813 2,532,944 consolidated 

RENK Systems Corporation, Camby, 

Indiana, USA 100 USD 4,325,588 1,170,509 consolidated 

Horstman, Inc., Sterling Heights, 

Michigan, USA 100 USD 2,603,457 1,273,961 consolidated 

Horstman Systems Inc., Woodbridge, 

Ontario, Canada 

100 CAD 152,638 (208,860) 

consolidated 

since Jan. 1, 

2022 

RENK Holding Canada Inc., Toronto, 

Ontario, Canada 100 CAD 2,646,571 (25,139) at cost 

COFICAL RENK MANCAIS DO BRASIL 

LTDA, Guaramirim, Brazil 98 BRL 24,860,162 7,940,162 at cost 

Modest Tree Media Inc., Halifax, Nova 

Scotia, Canada* 28.89 CAD 1,466,853 (2,051,600) at cost 

Renk Gears Private Ltd., Bangalore, India 100 INR 206,601,953 26,056,577 at cost 

Renk Korea Co., Ltd., Busan, South 

Korea 100 KRW 1,199,247,288 304,556,321 at cost 

RENK Shanghai Service and Commercial 

Co., Ltd. Shanghai, China 100 CNY (1,663,424) (9,646,406) at cost 
      

*Figures from 2021. 
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(29) Related party disclosures 

Related parties as defined by IAS 24 are natural persons and entities that can be influ-

enced by RENK Holding GmbH that can significantly influence RENK Holding GmbH or 

that are influenced by another related party of RENK Holding GmbH. 

Rebecca MidCo SARL, Luxembourg, holds the shares in Rebecca BidCo SARL, Luxembourg. 

Rebecca BidCo SARL holds the shares in RENK Holding GmbH and therefore it, and its af-

filiated entities, are related parties of RENK. Rebecca MidCo SARL and Rebecca BidCo 

SARL are ultimately held by the “Triton V” fund, which is majority owned by Triton. There 

is no higher-level parent of Triton that prepares consolidated financial statements availa-

ble to the public. 

Exchanges of goods and services between RENK and its related parties are conducted as 

at arm's length. 

Loan transactions were processed in the following amounts with Rebecca MidCo SARL 

and Rebecca BidCo SARL in the current fiscal year:  

 

EUR thousand 2022 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

2021 

Jan. 1 - Dec. 31 

  Rebecca 

BidCo 

SARL 

Rebecca 

MidCo 

SARL 

Rebecca 

BidCo 

SARL 

Rebecca 

MidCo 

SARL 

Services rendered (income) 6 – 5 90 

Services received (expense) 5,241 – 5,888 – 

          

EUR thousand Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021 

  Rebecca 

BidCo 

SARL 

Rebecca 

MidCo 

SARL 

Rebecca 

BidCo 

SARL 

Rebecca 

MidCo 

SARL 

Receivables (Dec. 31) 329 – 222 – 

Liabilities (Dec. 31) 91,395 – 86,154 – 
     

 

The loan granted was contracted in 2020 and is repayable on July 15, 2026. The interest 

rate is 6%. 

Related parties of RENK also include persons who can influence or be influenced by 

RENK Holding GmbH. These are members of the management of RENK Holding GmbH, 

Rebecca BidCo SARL and RENK GmbH and, since the change to the structural organization 

of the RENK Group in the fiscal year, the key management personnel. In addition to the 

Executive Board of RENK Holding GmbH, these include the heads from the administrative 
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areas of Human Resources, Supply Chain Management, Governance/Legal/Compliance 

and Operations, as well as the heads of the divisions newly introduced in fiscal year 2022.  

In the previous year, director remuneration amounted to EUR  7,707 thousand, consisting 

of EUR 580 thousand from short-term benefits and EUR 7,127 thousand from post-em-

ployment benefits and termination benefits. There were no other long-term employee 

benefits or share-based payments. 

Key management personnel remuneration for fiscal year 2022 is broken down below:  

EUR thousand 2022 

Short-term benefits 3,409 

Other long-term benefits 29 

  3,438 
  

 

In the course of the reorganization and introduction of the divisional structure, there was 

a change in the number of key management personnel. The number of persons in key 

management positions is thus larger than in fiscal year 2021. In fiscal year 2021, only the 

former Executive Board of RENK Holding GmbH belonged to key management.  

Key management personnel receive a short-term bonus in addition to their regular salary, 

which is mainly determined on the basis of earnings and cash flow. Pension commitments 

were also issued, for which a liability of EUR 282 thousand was recognized as of the re-

porting date, which was expensed in the fiscal year 2022. For a description of pensions, 

please see the “Pensions and similar obligations” section in the notes to the consolidated 

statement of financial position. A liability of EUR  1,644 thousand was recognized for the 

short-term cash bonus. 

Other long-term benefits comprise vacation accrual that are not settled in full within 12 

months after the end of the period in which the related service was rendered. There was 

an obligation of EUR 29 thousand as of the reporting date. 

Key management personnel have indirectly and at their own risk acquired an interest at 

market value in Rebecca MidCo SARL, a parent company of RENK Holding GmbH, through 

the self-financed purchase of shares from Rebecca Management S.C.A. and thus partici-

pate in the entrepreneurial risks and rewards of the RENK Group. This is a share-based 

payment in accordance with IFRS 2. The investments were to be made by the respective 

participants upon signing of the investment agreement. As of the balance sheet date, the 

parties indirectly held around 1.2% of the RENK Group.  

The executives involved bear the risk of this investment as self-financed co-investors. In 

the event of an exit by the current principal shareholder, the participants will share in any 

increase in value achieved. In the event that the participant gives up or has to give up its 

participation prematurely, for whatever reason, Rebecca LuxCo SARL, the majority share-

holder of Rebecca Management S.C.A., has the option to acquire the shares of the partici-

pant against payment of a purchase price. The purchase price amounts to the lower of the 
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original investment or the market value as defined in the participation agreement – tak-

ing into account the share that has not yet vested, if applicable. This increases by 10% 

every six months. The underlying terms and conditions depend on the reason for the 

withdrawal but do not affect the value of the investment under IFRS 2. Neither RENK 

Holding GmbH nor any of its subsidiaries is at any time obligated to make any payment to 

the participants. 

According to IFRS 2, these investments are share-based payments. At the time of acquisi-

tion of the investments (in Q4/2021 and Q1/2022), the purchase price to be paid was at 

least equal to the fair value of the investment received. The fair value was determined by 

continuing the business valuation performed in connection with the acquisition by Triton. 

As the fair value of the investment at the time of acquisition was paid by the parties in-

volved, no monetary benefit was granted. As a result, no personnel expenses are to be 

recognized at the level of the RENK Group over the entire period of the plan. 

Pension payments to former members of the Board of Management or Executive Board 

and their surviving dependents amounted to EUR 5,160 thousand (previous year: EUR 

276 thousand). A total of EUR 5,396 thousand (previous year: EUR 11,486 thousand) has 

been provided for pension obligations to former members of the Board of Management or 

Executive Board and their surviving dependents.  

No other business relationships were maintained with the related parties in the reporting 

period. 

(30) Subsequent Events after the reporting period  

On September 12, 2023, the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting resolved to change the 

legal form of RENK Holding GmbH into a German stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) 

under the legal name RENK Group AG. The changes in legal form and name were regis-

tered with the commercial register (Handelsregister) of the local court (Amtsgericht) of 

Augsburg, Germany on September 13, 2023 under docket number HRB 39189. All 

changes were effected in accordance with the applicable provisions of the German Trans-

formation Act (Umwandlungsgesetz). 

The RENK Group was reorganized along three segments (Vehicly Mobility Solutions 

"VMS", Marine & Industry "M&I", and Slide Bearings), with implications on the respective 

key management personnel, as well as the reporting of RENK Group AG. 

RENK GmbH received a loan from Rebecca BidCo SARL in the amount of EUR 80 million in 

2020, which including interest as of June 30, 2023 amounted to EUR 95 million. EUR 50 

million was repaid on August 11, 2023. The remaining EUR 45 million was contributed to 

the capital reserve. 

On August 9, 2023, prior to the change of legal form, the sole shareholder of RENK Hold-

ing GmbH resolved to increase the capital stock of the company from EUR 25 thousand by 

EUR 99,975 thousand to an amount of EUR 100 million (now divided into a total of 100 

million shares with the serial numbers 1 to 100 million with a notional par value of EUR 

1.00 each). The capital increase from own funds was registered with the commercial reg-

ister on August 23, 2023. 
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As of January 27, 2023 RENK acquired 100% of shares in General Kinetics Group (“GK”) 

with effect from January 27, 2023. As of the acquisition date, GK comprised four compa-

nies. On the acquisition date, GK Holdco Inc., Brampton, Canada, was merged with General 

Kinetics Engineering Corporation, Brampton, Canada, following the acquisition of GK. 

This was followed by a merger of the company created by the first merger with the com-

pany Horstman Systems Inc, Woodbridge, Canada, which was already fully consolidated. 

The resulting legal entity has been trading as Horstman Canada Inc., Brampton, Canada, 

since May 1, 2023. With effect from July 18, 2023, the companies General Kinetics Inc., 

Bedford, USA, and General Kinetics LLC, Bedford, USA, were merged with Horstman Inc, 

Sterling Heights, USA, which was already fully consolidated.  

On June 7, 2023 the supervisory board of RENK Holding GmbH named Christian Schulz as 

the new CFO, he succeeded Niklas Beyes who left the company at his own request.  

A set of discussions on debt financing facility agreements were initiated with a consor-

tium of financing banks to prepare for the maturation of the current bond used for debt 

Financing. 

In the extraordinary shareholders meeting of RENK Group AG on September 18, 2023 the 

supervisory board authorized the management board to issue, with the agreement of the 

supervisory board, once or multiple times, convertible or warrant-linked bonds, as well 

as profit-sharing certificates with option or conversion rights up to the total amount of 50 

Mio. € with limited or unlimited maturity and to grant to the holders or creditors of 

bonds warrants or conversion rights for up to 50 million new shares of the company with 

a partial amount of the share capital of up to 1,00 € according to the specifiable condi-

tions, to be set by the management board, for options or convertible bonds and/or profit 

sharing rights. 

In the extraordinary shareholders meeting of RENK Group AG on September 18, 2023 the 

supervisory board authorized the management board to acquire the company's own 

shares up to a total amount not exceeding 10% of the share capital, with the agreement of 

the supervisory board.  

In the extraordinary shareholders meeting of RENK Group AG on September 18, 2023 the 

supervisory board resolved that the company's registered share capital is conditionally 

increased by up to 50 Mio. € by issuing up to 50 million new no-par-value bearer shares 

conferring profit-sharing rights from the beginning of the fiscal year in which they were 

issued. 

The consolidated financial statements of RENK Group AG as of and for fiscal year ended 

December 31, 2021, were retrospectively amended and consequently subjected to a sup-

plementary audit, which was completed as of May 25, 2023.  

Due to this supplementary audit, the Company faced a delay in completing and publishing 

the Consolidated Financial Statements 2022 that resulted in a breach of contractual re-

porting requirements under RENK’s senior secured notes and senior facilities agreement.  

Regarding the senior secured notes, this breach was conclusively remedied by the provi-

sion of the audited Consolidated Financial Statements 2022 on May 30, 2023. Regarding 
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the senior facilities agreement, this violation was conclusively remedied by the extension 

of the reporting deadline requested on May 5, 2023 and granted by a majority of the fi-

nancing banks on May 9, 2023 and the provision of the audited Consolidated Financial 

Statements 2022 on May 30, 2023 within the extended reporting deadline granted. The 

violations did not have any economic effects on RENK. 
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Augsburg, January 27, 2024 

 

RENK Group AG 

 

 

 

 

Susanne Wiegand 

CEO 

Christian Schulz 

CFO 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Important Disclaimer 

The following independent auditor’s report (Bestätigungsvermerk des unabhängigen 

Abschlussprüfers) has been issued in accordance with Section 322 of the German Commercial 

Code (Handelsgesetzbuch) on the consolidated financial statements and group management report 

(Konzernlagebericht) of RENK Holding GmbH, Augsburg (now: RENK Group AG, Augsburg) as 

of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. The English-language independent auditor’s 

report is a translation of the respective German-language independent auditor’s report 

(Bestätigungsvermerk des unabhängigen Abschlussprüfers). The group management report is 

neither included nor incorporated by reference in this document.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To RENK Group AG, Augsburg 

Audit Opinions 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of RENK Holding GmbH (since September 

13, 2023: RENK Group AG), Augsburg, and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the Con-

solidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022, and the Consolidated State-

ment of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated Statement of 

Changes in Equity and Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the financial year from 1 January 

to 31 December 2022, and Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, including a summary 

of significant accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the Group Management Report of 

RENK Holding GmbH for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2022.  

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit, 

• the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the

IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursu-

ant to § [Article] 315e Abs. [paragraph] 1 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial

Code] and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, lia-
bilities, and financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its financial perfor-

mance for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2022, and

• the accompanying Group Management Report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the

Group’s position. In all material respects, this Group Management Report is consistent with the

consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately

presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Pursuant to § 322 Abs. 3 Satz [sentence] 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any reser-

vations relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group 

Management Report. 

Basis for the Audit Opinions 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group Management 

Report in accordance with § 317 HGB in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards 

for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Pub-

lic Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those requirements and principles are 

further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements and of the Group Management Report“ section of our auditor’s report. We are inde-

pendent of the group entities in accordance with the requirements of German commercial and pro-

fessional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance 
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with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and ap-

propriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on 

the Group Management Report. 

Responsibilities of the Executive Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements and the 

Group Management Report 

The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

that comply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional 

requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB and that the consolidated 

financial statements, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, 

liabilities, financial position, and financial performance of the Group. In addition, the executive 

directors are responsible for such internal control as they have determined necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud (i.e., fraudulent financial reporting and misappropriation of assets) or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the executive directors are responsible for as-

sessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for dis-

closing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for finan-

cial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liqui-

date the Group or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the Group Management 

Report that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all material 

respects, consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal re-

quirements, and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addi-

tion, the executive directors are responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as they 

have considered necessary to enable the preparation of a Group Management Report that is in ac-

cordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient ap-

propriate evidence for the assertions in the Group Management Report. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Group 

Management Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial state-

ments as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether 

the Group Management Report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position 

and, in all material respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and the 

knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately 

presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well as to issue an auditor’s report 
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that includes our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the Group Man-

agement Report. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with § 317 HGB and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Fi-

nancial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always de-

tect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered ma-

terial if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the eco-

nomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements and this 

Group Management Report. 

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 

also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements 

and of the Group Management Report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform au-
dit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appro-

priate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstate-

ment resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve col-

lusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial 

statements and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the Group 

Management Report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-

stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an audit opinion on the effectiveness of these sys-

tems. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the executive directors and the 

reasonableness of estimates made by the executive directors and related disclosures. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the executive directors’ use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to con-

tinue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 

draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements and in the Group Management Report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence ob-

tained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 

the Group to cease to be able to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial state-

ments, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements 

give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of 

the Group in compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of 

German commercial law pursuant to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB. 
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• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 

or business activities within the Group to express audit opinions on the consolidated financial 
statements and on the Group Management Report. We are responsible for the direction, super-

vision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opin-

ions. 

• Evaluate the consistency of the Group Management Report with the consolidated financial 

statements, its conformity with German law, and the view of the Group’s position it provides. 

• Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the executive directors 

in the Group Management Report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we 

evaluate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by the executive directors as a basis for 
the prospective information, and evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information 

from these assumptions. We do not express a separate audit opinion on the prospective infor-

mation and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that fu-

ture events will differ materially from the prospective information. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant defi-

ciencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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Note on Supplementary Audit 

We issue this auditor’s report on amended consolidated financial statements and amended group 

management report on the basis of our audit, duly completed as at 30th May 2023, and our supple-

mentary audit completed as at 27th January 2024 related to the amendments of “Other non-current 

financial assets”, “Deferred tax assets”, “Non-current financial liabilities”, “Current financial liabili-

ties”, “Retained earnings”, “Deferred tax liabilities” as well as “Interest expense”, “Other financial 

result” and “Income taxes” and of the related disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements and the group management report and “Subsequent Events after the reporting period” 

in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and the “Forecast” in the group management 

report. We refer to the presentation of the amendments by the executive directors in the 

amended notes to the consolidated financial statements in “Generals principles” as well as the 

amended group management report in “Operating activities and Management of the RENK 

Group”. 

Munich/Germany, 30th May 2023 / limited to the changes mentioned in the Note on Supplemen-

tary Audit: Munich, 27 January 2024 

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

(sgd.) Holger Graßnick (sgd.) ppa. Dario Nikolic   

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer 

(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor) 
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